HWDSB

Governance Committee

Monday, May 16, 2022 Virtual – MS Teams

Hamilton-Wentworth District School Board 20 Education Court, P.O. Box 2558 Hamilton, ON L8N 3L1

AGENDA: 5:30 pm

- I. Call to Order
- 2. Approval of the Agenda
- 3. Board Meeting Dates for 2022-23
- 4. Strategic Directions update
- 5. Trustee Compensation discussion item
- 6. Report Governance Review Trustee Policy Manual
- 7. Adjournment



GOVERNANCE

TO: GOVERNANCE

FROM: John Bryant, Interim-Director of Education

DATE: May 16, 2022

PREPARED BY: Heather Miller, Officer of Trustee Services

RE: Board Meeting Schedule for September 2022 to June 2023

Action X Monitoring \square

Recommended Action:

That the Board meeting schedule for September 2022 to June 2023 be recommended for approval.

Sept. 19	Oct. 3 and 17	Nov. 7 and 21	Dec. 5 and 19	Jan. 16 and 30
Feb. 13 and 27	Mar. 6 and 27	Apr. 3 and 24	May 8 and 29	Jun. 12 and 19

Background:

As per the Trustee Handbook, Governance Bylaw 1.16 states that "during tor before the organizational meeting each year, the Board shall approve a schedule of meeting dates and times for regular Board and Standing Committee meetings for the following year. The schedule may be revised by the Board (E.A., 208 (6), 170.4)."

^{*}Trustee Special Committee meeting dates will be determined following the approval of the Board meeting schedule.



GOVERNANCE

TO: GOVERNANCE

FROM: John Bryant, Interim-Director of Education

DATE: May 16, 2022

PREPARED BY: Heather Miller, Officer of Trustee Services

RE: Update re: Strategic Directions

Action X Monitoring \square

Recommended Action:

That the ThoughtExchange for Strategic Directions begin in September 2022 once a new Director of Education is in place.

Background:

Trustees passed a motion in November 2021 requesting that a ThoughtExchange be started in early winter and completed before the end of April with results being returned to Trustees in the Spring.

Due to ongoing workload pressures regarding COVID-19 and an Interim-Director in place, staff were not able to conduct a ThoughtExchange and are recommending that this take place in the fall, once a new Director of Education has been hired. As the Strategic Directions provide direction to the Director of Education and are a focus of his/her performance by Trustees, it is recommended that the incoming Director be part of the process when it comes to collecting and analyzing/interpreting the results of the consultation.



EXECUTIVE REPORT TO GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

TO: GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

FROM: John Bryant, Interim-Director of Education

DATE: May 16, 2022

PREPARED BY: Heather Miller, Officer of Trustee Services

RE: Report – Governance Review – Trustee Policy Manual

Action Monitoring X

Background:

Please find attached a copy of the Report from the Governance Review team – Wentworth Strategy Group regarding the Trustee Policy Manual.

A note from the Governance Review team:

Members of the Governance Committee of HWDSB's Board of Trustees,

It has been our pleasure to work with you on this governance review through EDI (equity, diversity, and inclusion), and anti-racism / anti-oppression / anti-colonial lenses, updating of your policy framework, and training and professional development.

Attached is the final version of your new Policy Manual that we recommend you approving at your May 16, 2022 Governance Committee meeting, to be in force as of September 2022. The Manual has been updated with your feedback subsequent to the version we shared on May 3, 2022.

We have one more training session booked, to be held on June 22, 2022, where the Project Team looks forward to sharing more detail and perspective around some of the specific updates and provisions and changes. In advance of this meeting, the Project Team will share a final project report which will contain further perspective and guidance on the work we have completed.

We understand that this is a substantial change, and while we have spent time working together and reviewing it, there are inevitably elements you may wish to review and revise in the future which are realized as you govern under this updated Manual. Notwithstanding this expected evolution, we believe that adopting this new Manual will serve as the foundation for HWDSB Trustees to build on in a leadership capacity that considers equity, diversity, and inclusion at its core.

As well, we look forward to supporting you in considering the communications around this important change, so that stakeholders might best understand and benefit from this new foundation.

Sincerely,

HWDSB Governance Project Team Wentworth Strategy Group

Hamilton-Wentworth District School Board (HWDSB)

Board of Trustees Governance Review

INTERIM REPORT - MAY 11, 2022

PREAMBLE - INTERIM REPORT

This interim report is presented to the Governance Committee of the Board of Trustees of HWDSB as an accompaniment to the draft HWDSB Board of Trustees Policy Manual as at May 11, 2022.

A final report will be presented to HWDSB's Board of Trustees at the end of the project. This report will include additional perspectives from stakeholder engagement activities.

The proposed new HWDSB Board of Trustees Policy Manual is recommended to replace the existing Board of Trustees Handbook.

Pursuant to this initial draft report being sent to the Governance Committee, the Project Team looks forward to working with the Board of Trustees to refine the draft and to work toward it being formally adopted by June 2022, to be in force September 2022.

PROJECT CONTEXT

Following the Final Report of the External Investigator (Arleen Huggins) for the Hamilton-Wentworth District School Board Re: Student Trustee Complaint of Breach of the Code of Conduct, a Project Team organized by Wentworth Strategy Group was retained to undertake the following tasks:

- 1. Comprehensive governance review through EDI (equity, diversity, and inclusion), and anti-racism / anti-oppression / anti-colonial lenses
- 2. Update of policy frameworks revised HWDSB Board of Trustees Handbook
- 3. Trustee training and professional development

As at the time of this submission, the Project Team has completed its initial review and is presenting the initial draft of the updated policy frameworks. It has also completed 3 of 6 Trustee training and professional development sessions, the remainder of which will be completed over the next few months.

PROJECT CONSULTANTS

- Catherine Raso Lead Project Consultant
- Leo Nupolu Johnson Project Consultant
- Troy Hill Project Consultant
- **Dr. Bonny Ibhawoh** Project Consultant
- Mark John Stewart Project Coordinator and Contract Administrator (<u>mstewart@wentworthstrategy.com</u>)

ENGAGEMENT AND OUTREACH

The review conducted by the project consultants included direct engagement with key stakeholders, primarily via private Zoom meetings, in order to solicit perspective and insight. The intent of this review was not to undertake a comprehensive survey of stakeholders, rather, it was to leverage the expertise of the project consultants. As such, the deliverables of this project do not include an explicit report back on stakeholder feedback. Rather, stakeholder feedback is embedded in the new proposed Policy Manual. Stakeholders groups consulted include:

- HWDSB Trustees
- HWDSB Committees
- Union Representatives
- HWDSB Staff
- Student Trustees
- Members of the Indigenous community
- Officer, Trustee Services

ARTIFACTS REVIEWED AND/OR REFERENCED

The review conducted by the project consultants included comparing and revising the existing Board of Trustees Handbook to the several related artifacts. This was an important part of this process, as numerous extant other policy documents offer excellent elements of good practices to consider. Artifacts referenced included:

Provincial

- HWDSB Equity Action Plan
- HWDSB Policy No. 5.4: Equity and Inclusion
- Ontario Education Act
- Ontario Human Rights Code
- Ontario's Equity and Inclusive Education Strategy
- Ontario Education Equity Action Plan
- Other school board policies in Ontario, including Toronto District School Board and Waterloo Region District School Board

National

- Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms
- School board policies in other Canadian provinces

International

- Universal Declaration of Human Rights (United Nations)
- Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous People (United Nations)

TRAINING SESSIONS COMPLETED

January 12, 2022

MODULE 1: Understanding the Roots of Discrimination, Oppression, and Inequality Presented by Dr. Ameil Joseph and Leo Nupolu Johnson

February 9, 2022

MODULE 2: Indigenous Cultural Competency

Presented by Troy Hill

March 1, 2022

MODULE 3: Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion Literacy and Fluency for Governance Presented by Dr. Bonny Ibhawoh and Catherine Raso

FUTURE TRAINING SESSION DATES

April 5, 2022

MODULE 4: Review of Proposed Principles and Policies

Presented by Project Team Consultants

May 3, 2022

MODULE 5: Ableism

Presented by Kate Welsh and Dev Ramasawkh

June 22, 2022

TBC

KEY FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Use of Manual and Addition of Statement of Values

Through engagement with stakeholders, it became apparent that the existing Handbook was primarily being used as a rulebook. Although rules of procedure are an important element of this document, it is the opinion of the project consultants that this document should be used as a guide to support the leadership and excellence of Trustees in their roles. As such, the document has been reordered and updated with new sections to emphasize the priority we believe should be placed on the overarching values that Trustees should be following.

Further to the use of Manual, there was conversation and consideration among the Project Team and Trustees as to how prescriptive the Manual should be. As presented, there are, for example, procedural elements which are very explicit in regard to process, as well as sections that are more principle based which are less prescriptive.

Although this Manual is a governing tool for HWDSB, it cannot prescribe every potential issue or circumstance. Trustees should first and foremost hold themselves and their colleagues to account for the values and principles outlined in **Section 2**. **Roles, Values, Accountabilities, and Code of Conduct**.

EDI (equity, diversity, and inclusion), and anti-racism / anti-oppression / anti-colonial lenses

The existing Handbook makes no reference to equity, diversity, and inclusion or related topics. Further to the observation that the Handbook has been primarily used as a rulebook, the new statement of values puts these themes front and center. Throughout the proposed Policy Manual, equity, diversity, and inclusion have been considered and included explicitly or implicitly.

Training

School board trustees in Ontario are elected officials from a variety of backgrounds who may or may not have any background or experience with the role in general, and the specific role and policies they should be following given their school board. Through engagement with stakeholders, the Project Team observed that there is not a comprehensive scope of training or onboarding for HWDSB Trustees.

The scope of this project specifically pertained to equity, diversity, and inclusion, anti-racism and anti-oppression, anti-colonialism, and governance. These are important, complex, and evolving topics. As such, we recommend that Trustees commit to ongoing training so that they are able to lead according to the guidelines presented in Section 2: Roles, Values, Accountabilities, and Code of Conduct. This process has been initiated with the 6-part training series delivered by Wentworth Strategy Group in early 2022.

Further and outside the scope of this project, it is noted that HWDSB does not control the fact that Trustees are elected, and not appointed, and as such, HWDSB is not able to proactively evaluate the experience or qualifications of Trustees. Given a potential deficit in experience, the Project Team recommends that HWDSB assess the onboarding and training that is given to Trustees to ensure that they are best prepared to succeed in their role.

Role of Student Trustees

One of the key topics that the Project Team was requested to consider was the role of Student Trustees. There are two sections of the Policy Manual which refer to Student Trustees, Section 2.3.11 and Section 3.3.

The suggested updating of the role of Student Trustees sought to strike a balance between a number of key considerations, including:

- The role of HWDSB's Student Trustees must be in alignment with the regulations contained in the Ontario Education Act
- Student Trustees should be empowered as much as possible as valuable members of the BoT
- The BoT must support Student Trustees in their success and development
- Student Trustees must at all times be in a safe environment
- The Board of Trustees should formally create ways to communicate with, and listen to, students as a whole, with Student Trustees being a valuable part of that process

There is still work for the BoT to do regarding the role of Student Trustees, specifically:

- How to identify their mentors
- The amount of professional development
- How the Board of Trustees will proactively recruit students to stand for election to best represent the diverse student populations
- The Board of Trustees' overall communication with students as a whole

The Project Team recommends that the BoT establish a working group to focus on these aspects of the role of the Student Trustee, and that this working group be an ongoing body that will continuously work to ensure that the role of Student Trustees is clear and empowering and that the participating students are treated fairly and safely.

Breaches of Code of Conduct / Complaints Procedure

The Project Team assessed the existing policies and procedures surrounding identifying Breaches of Code of Conduct / Complaints Procedure. In acknowledgement of the fact that there may be some subjectivity as to what constitutes a serious breach of the Code of Conduct, a revised procedure has been proposed which empowers the Trustee who alleges the breach of the Code to request a Formal Complaint Procedure. This request is to be first considered by the Chair and Vice-Chair. If there is a disagreement between the determination of the Trustee who alleges the breach of the Code and the Chair and Vice-Chair, outside consultation should be retained to make a final determination.

Alignment of Board of Trustees and HWDSB

All leaders at HWDSB, including Trustees, should be committed to the mission, vision, and values of HWDSB. As such, key policies and procedures of HWDSB should align with the policies and procedures specifically pertaining to the BoT. In reviewing materials, the Project Team observed that there were in a number of cases, policies and procedures of HWDSB that had been thoughtfully created to advance the objectives of the school board and reactively or proactively respond to a changing environment. In many cases, this work was not reflected in the Handbook in any material way. The Project Team recommends that when important decisions are made relating to policies, procedures, or strategies, the implications for the responsibilities and leadership of the BoT be considered, and the Policy Manual be amended as appropriate.

Regular Review and Maintenance of this Manual

It is clear that the current Handbook has not been reviewed or updated recently and that there are some areas that lack clarity that were out of the scope of this governance review. Therefore the Project Team recommends that a working group be established with the purpose of reviewing clauses that lack clarity that were not changed by the Project Team in this governance review, or that this task be taken on by the Governance Committee. This should be an ongoing activity because the document should be continuously developed as needed to govern with excellence.

FURTHER RECOMMENDED UPDATES TO HWDSB BoT POLICY MANUAL (PREVIOUSLY "HANDBOOK")

Motions and Delegations

The Policy Manual includes a new section on submitting a written notice of motion or adding an item to an agenda. The impetus for this change was from conversations with stakeholders. This section on "Notice of Motions" clarifies the purpose and process of bringing a notice of motion. The goal is to engender more transparency in making motions and setting meeting agendas.

This section was constructed following reviews of practices by other school boards in Ontario. One notable inclusion that differs from existing policy is that board members are able to abstain from voting. The Project Team is of the opinion this is an ideal practice.

Change of Name of Document

The previous name of the document, the "Handbook", suggests that this is something Trustees can reference as needed. The new suggested name of "Policy Manual" indicates a document which reflects the BoT's value and principles, as well as procedures. Policies are defined as values and perspectives, and so the term Policy Manual is a much more accurate term than Handbook.

There is no requirement for a School Board in Ontario to have a document called By-Laws although in the current Handbook, there is a section, Section One, called Governance By-Laws, but it is unclear why that section is called By-Laws and not others. In the new draft document, the former By-Laws are now Section 4, Rules of Procedure, 4.1-4.9.

According to relevant legislation for school boards in Ontario, there is flexibility to self-govern choosing a Board of Trustees' own name for documents. We recommend the term Policy Manual, however if the HWDSB BoT wishes to call this document By-Laws, or call a section of it By-Laws, it is legal, however it is unclear which sections would carry the title By-Laws, and which would not.

Inclusion of Land Acknowledgements

Land acknowledgements have been added to several procedures.

Periodic Reviews

The Project Team encourages HWDSB's BoT to commit to periodic reviews of the Policy Manual in light of the changing landscape of the environment HWDSB operates in, and also to consider and refine how existing policies are supporting the success of HWDSB and its stakeholders.

Updating Policies in Consideration of Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion

The Project Team encourages HWDSB's BoT to reference the Toronto District School Board's Equity Policy Tool to ensure the policy review and development process includes an equity assessment component.

https://www.tdsb.on.ca/About-Us/Policies-Procedures-Forms/Equity-Policy-Assessment

Additional Changes

- All gendered references have been removed from the manual (from he/she and her/him, to they/their)
- Throughout the manual, there were numerous references to the "Board", where it was unclear whether the
 reference was to the school board itself, or the Board of Trustees. All instances have been changed to
 indicate explicitly either HWDSB, or BoT (Board of Trustees)
- The entire document was updated in terms of ordering system and structure

Changes Not Addressed

The following topics were presented to the Project Team for consideration but not addressed as they were determined to fall outside the scope of the focus of this review, which is focused equity, diversity, and inclusion and policies and procedures which have implication for these topics. The Project Team is open to further conversation with the Governance Committee about these topics:

- Handling of confidential material
- Process for correspondence received for the Board
- Ballots for the election of the Chair and Vice-Chair being made public
- Automatically making reports from code of conduct investigations public

There may be further items that warrant consideration and updating which fall outside of the direct purview of this project. The Project Team encourages the Governance Committee and the BoT to continue to consider and review the elements contained in the approved Policy Manual on an ongoing basis to ensure that the elements it contains remain appropriate and relevant to the leadership and governance needs of HWDSB.

Hamilton-Wentworth District School Board (HWDSB) Board of Trustees Policy Manual

MAY 11, 2022

Table of Contents

1. Purpose of this Manual	4
1.1 Purpose	4
1.2 Version/ Approval Status	5
2. Roles, Values, Accountabilities, and Code of Conduct	6
2.1 Role of the Board of Trustees of the Hamilton-Wentworth District School Board	6
2.2 Values	7
2.3 Accountabilities	8
2.4 Code of Conduct	13
2.4.1 Principles	13
2.4.2 Procedures	15
3. Officers and Committees	21
3.1 Chair's Role	21
3.2 Vice-Chair's Role	23
3.3 Role of Student Trustees	24
3.4 Committees	27
3.4.1 Standing	27
3.4.2 Committee of the Whole	29
3.4.3 Trustee Special Committees	30
3.4.4 Finance & Facilities	32
3.4.5 Governance	34
3.4.6 Human Resources	35
3.4.7 Policy	36
3.4.8 Program	37
3.4.9 Legislative Committee: Special Education Advisory Committee	38
3.4.10 Legislative Committee: Parent Involvement Committee	40
3.4.11 Statutory Committee: Supervised Alternative Learning for Excused Pupils Committee	41
3.4.12 Statutory Committee: Suspensions Appeals and Expulsion Hearings Committee	43
3.4.13 Community Advisory Committees	34
3.4.14 Rules of Order for Standing Committees, Committee of the Whole, Trustee Special Committees, and Community Advisory Committees	47
4. Rules of Procedures	48

4.1 Organizational Board Meeting		
4.2 Board Meetings: Regular and Special	50	
4.3 Regular Board Meetings	51	
4.4 Special Board Meetings	53	
4.5 Rules of Order for Board Meetings	54	
4.6 Standing Committee	58	
4.7 Committee of the Whole	59	
4.8 Trustee Special Committees	60	
4.9 Rules of Order, Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole and Trustee Special Committees	62	
4.10 Voting and Definitions	63	
4.11 Trustee Electronic Participation Policy and Procedure		
4.12 Declaring a Conflict of Interest	66	
4.13 Private Matters	67	
4.14 Reporting Private Matters in Public	68	
4.15 Submitting a Written Notice of Motion or Adding an Item to an Agenda	70	
4.16 Delegations	75	
4.17 Requests for Information	78	
4.18 Changes to Policies and Procedures		

1. Purpose of this Manual

1.1 Purpose

The HWDSB Board of Trustees Policy Manual serves as a guide for Trustees in their commitment to pursue HWDSB's mission, commitment, and priorities. The Manual emphasizes the overarching values and accountabilities that direct the work of the Board of Trustees, and also includes the policies and procedures that Trustees, and the Board of Trustees as a whole, commit to follow.

The HWDSB Board of Trustees Policy Manual also allows students, staff, those aspiring to become Trustees, and all other stakeholders, to understand the role and commitments of the Board of Trustees. The Manual supports informed and productive engagement between the Board of Trustees and stakeholders.

This Manual shall be reviewed, at a minimum, once during every four year board term, to ensure that the elements it contains remain appropriate and relevant to the leadership and governance needs of HWDSB.

1.2 Version/ Approval Status

SUBMITTED FOR APPROVAL MAY 11, 2022

2. Roles, Values, Accountabilities, and Code of Conduct

2.1 Role of the Board of Trustees of the Hamilton-Wentworth District School Board

The Education Act provides for the establishment of four types of district School Boards: English public, English Catholic, French public, and French Catholic. Locally elected School Boards are responsible for operating publicly funded schools within their jurisdiction and for the delivery and quality of educational programs and services. Legal accountability for the decisions of the Board of Trustees applies to the School Board as a corporate entity rather than to individual trustees.

HWDSB's Board of Trustees (BoT) is committed to the pursuit of HWDSB's mission, commitment, and priorities:

- **HWDSB's Mission:** We empower students to learn and grow to their full potential in a diverse world.
- HWDSB's Commitment: We are committed to learning, equity, inclusion, engagement, and innovation. We
 recognize and acknowledge historical and present-day exclusions and inequities in access to education and
 are committed to bridging these equity gaps by creating a welcoming and inclusive school environment
 where all students can thrive.

HWDSB's Priorities:

- Positive Culture and Well-Being We will build student and staff well-being through positive climate strategies and supportive relationships.
- Student Learning and Achievement We will improve student learning and achievement through effective instructional strategies.
- Effective Communication We will improve our communication through comprehensive strategies.
- School Renewal We will optimize opportunities to invest in improved school facilities.
- Partnerships We will strengthen our collaboration with new and existing community partners to enhance opportunities for students.

A BoT functions as a cohesive whole, providing a clear sense of purpose and direction to the entire system and the community it serves. Its focus is on the big picture, improving student achievement through effective policymaking, visionary planning, evaluating student outcomes, inclusion of Indigenous knowledge, and identifying major implications for the school district. The Director of Education is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the HWDSB.

2.2 Values

In furtherance of the goals of HWDSB as outlined in the Ontario Education Act, Trustees shall, in their decision-making, work to promote a positive climate that is inclusive and accepting of students, staff, and other stakeholders, including persons of all races, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, marital status, family status or disability.

HWDSB's BoT is committed to creating an equitable, diverse, and inclusive environment where all students, staff, volunteers, Trustees, and other stakeholders feel empowered, respected, and valued.

HWDSB's BoT respects the value brought by the diverse experiences of all Trustees and other leaders and is committed to listening to the diversity of thoughts as an integral part of decision making and operations. The BoT strives to empower marginalized voices equitably through anti-colonial, anti-racist, and Indigenous lenses as part of addressing issues of systemic discrimination and marginalization. The BoT provides informed leadership and direction for equity, diversity, and inclusion throughout HWDSB.

2.3 Accountabilities

The HWDSB has broad areas of accountability. These partly reflect obligations to stakeholder groups served. They also include critical processes that the BoT must put in place to provide effective governance and fulfill its obligations under the Education Act. The BoT has the following major areas of accountability:

- 1. Accountability for Student Achievement
 - a. Promoting a culture that supports student success through multicultural understanding,
 - b. Ensuring that effective educational programs are available for all students that accommodates and recognizes socio-economic and inclusivity barriers,
 - c. Making decisions that reflect the HWDSB's philosophy and belief statements that all students can learn,
 - d. Promoting clear, consistent expectations that focus on a successful outcome for all students.
- 2. Accountability to the Community
 - a. Making decisions that reflect the HWDSB's philosophy, belief statements and strategic plan, and that represent the interests of the entire organization,
 - b. Establishing processes that provide the community with opportunities for input,
 - c. Removing barriers that may limit opportunities for input from underrepresented groups,
 - d. Ensuring regularly scheduled opportunities for communication between the HWDSB, the BoT, School Councils, stakeholder committees, and home and school associations.,
 - e. Providing reports outlining HWDSB's results in accordance with provincial policy,
 - f. Developing and maintaining policy to hear appeals in accordance with appropriate statutes and HWDSB policies,
 - g. Developing and maintaining policies that foster equity, diversity and inclusion in HWDSB processes and outcomes.
- 3. Accountability to the Provincial Government
 - a. Acting in accordance with the Education Act, regulations, and other statutory requirements to ensure the implementation of provincial and education standards and policies,
 - b. Performing the functions required by provincial legislation and HWDSB policy,

- c. Providing advice to the Ministry of Education and the provincial trustee association regarding regional and local implications of funding and policy recommendations.
- 4. Policy Development, Implementation and Review
 - a. Maintaining policies that outline how the BoT will successfully function,
 - b. Ensuring that all new policies have in place a purpose statement prior to development,
 - c. Approving policy statements that meet the criteria identified by the HWDSB,
 - d. Regularly reviewing HWDSB's policies to ensure that they reflect the desired impact and/or purpose.

5. BoT-Director Relations

- a. Selecting the Director of Education,
- b. Providing the Director with a clear job description and corporate direction,
- c. Delegating, through policy, administrative authority and responsibility subject to the provisions and restrictions of the Education Act and regulations,
- d. Evaluating the Director annually or bi-annually using the Director's job description and Strategic Plan as the basis for the evaluation,
- e. At least once a year at the Director's request, providing the Director with an opportunity to meet alone with the BoT in closed session,
- f. Periodically reviewing the compensation of the Director and senior staff,
- g. Promoting a positive working relationship with the Director of Education,
- h. Holding the Director accountable for equity, inclusion, and human rights compliance, of the mechanisms to do so, and effective strategies to respond to and eliminate systemic barriers and individual discriminatory biases,
- i. The Director shall take instruction from the trustees only based on a decision of the entire BoT. No individual trustees can instruct the Director. During a discussion at a BoT or committee meeting, the Director may accept a staff undertaking.

6. BoT Development

a. Annually reviewing the effectiveness and performance of the BoT by seeking input from community stakeholders.

- Concurrent to annually reviewing the effectiveness and performance of the BoT, all Trustees shall sign an agreement to abide by all the policies and practices outlined in the HWDSB BoT Policy Manual,
- c. Developing and implementing an annual plan for trustee development (both collectively and individually) to increase knowledge of the role, processes, and issues,
- d. Using the expertise of the Director of Education, and other provincial organizations, i.e. the Ontario Public School Boards' Association, the Council of Directors of Education and the Ontario Public Supervisory Officers' Association, to help develop and support the BoT's development plan.

7. Strategic Planning

- a. Providing overall direction for HWDSB by establishing the purpose (mission), and vision and belief statements,
- b. Annually setting priorities with outcomes (Strategic Plan),
- c. Annually approve the operational annual plan based on alignment with the Strategic plan,
- d. Annually using the Strategic Plan to drive the budget process,
- e. Annually evaluating the effectiveness of HWDSB in relation to its Strategic Plan,
- f. Monitoring progress toward the improvement of student achievement.

8. Fiscal Responsibility

- a. Developing and implementing a budget review process to help determine annual resource allocations using the Strategic Plan and other provincial and local directions,
- b. Annually approving a balanced budget to ensure that the financial resources are allocated to achieve the desired results,
- c. Approving, as per legislation, all capital plans and other planning documents that will drive budget decisions,
- d. Having in place an audit committee in accordance with O. Reg. 361/10, Audit Committees,
- e. Soliciting advice from the Director of Education and the Ontario Public School Boards' Association in setting the parameters for negotiation with employee groups,
- f. Ratifying memoranda of agreements with all bargaining units and non-union groups.
- 9. Political Advocacy and Communication

- a. Annually developing an advocacy plan for HWDSB, including the focus, key messages, and advocacy mechanisms,
- b. Annually developing a plan to ensure that the BoT is communicating with the community, city council, members of the provincial parliament and other stakeholders,
- c. Annually reviewing political advocacy and building on successes.

10. Recognition

- a. Promoting equity among students, staff, community members and volunteers,
- b. Recognizing the underrepresented groups and individuals from the above categories for their contributions and achievements.

11. Student Trustees

- a. The BoT is committed to hearing the voices of the student population and will ensure that the student perspective is considered in the decisions of the members of the BoT. One method of ensuring that students are heard is through the positions of the elected Student Trustees.
- b. Since Student Trustees are students in the HWDSB, the BoT and HWDSB have an obligation to ensure that Student Trustees are always in a safe environment and are properly and professionally supervised at all times, just as if they were in a classroom. This includes ensuring that the Student Trustees have training, resources, and on-going professional and appropriate support at all times.
- c. The BoT also takes responsibility for communicating with students and ensuring student engagement. Communication includes listening to students and understanding their needs and values, as well as ensuring that BoT decisions are understood by students. The BoT commits to working with the Student Trustees to create regular and on-going opportunities for this two-way communication between the BoT and students at large. Student Trustees will have the opportunity to work with the BoT to design mechanisms for communication and will have resources and support from BoT and the HWDSB.

Note: For further description of Student Trustees, please see section 3.3, "Role of Student Trustees."

- 12. The BoT also has the following responsibilities:
 - a. Approving school year calendars,
 - b. Naming educational facilities,
 - c. Approving disposition of land and buildings,
 - d. Approving education development charges,

.....

- e. Approving the issuance of debentures,
- f. Designating a coordinator to administer the requirements of the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act,
- g. Approving the HWDSB's auditor,
- h. Approving the HWDSB's lawyers.

2.4 Code of Conduct

2.4.1 Principles

Maintaining the integrity and dignity of office

- 1. Trustees shall recognize that the expenditure of HWDSB funds is a public trust and endeavour to see that the funds are expended efficiently, in the best interests of the students and other stakeholders.
- 2. Trustees, as elected officials of the BoT, must uphold the dignity of the office and conduct themselves in a professional manner, especially when attending BoT events, or while on BoT property and shall at all times act with decorum and be respectful of other Trustees, staff, students and the public.
- 3. Trustees shall ensure that their comments are issue-based and respectful of all concerned. The use of demeaning, disparaging or other such comments is unacceptable and is not allowed at any time within the context of conducting BoT's business. Failure to adhere to this provision could result in expulsion from the meeting, sanctions, or other measures as deemed appropriate by the Trustees to ensure the safety of the victim.
- 4. Trustees shall abide by an expulsion or exclusion from a meeting if deemed to be "guilty of improper conduct at a meeting" by the Chair or presiding officer. [Education Act, s. 207(3)

Avoidance of exercising personal advantage

- 5. No Trustee shall accept a gift from any person or entity that has dealings with the BoT if the gift could influence the Trustee when performing his or her duties to the BoT. However, this does not, for example, preclude a Trustee from accepting a free ticket or admission to a charitable or professional development event, or traditional Indigenous gratuities. Also, this does not preclude an acceptance of reasonable hospitality or gifts in accordance with the Board's Trustee Expense Policy.
- 6. No Trustee shall use his or her office to obtain employment with the BoT for the Trustee or a family member.

Civil and respectful behaviour

- 7. No Trustee shall engage in conduct during meetings of the BoT or committees of the BoT, and at all other times that would discredit or compromise the integrity of the BoT.
- 8. When expressing individual views, Trustees shall respect the differing points of view of other Trustees, staff, students, and the public.
- 9. All Trustees have an obligation to provide Student Trustees with a safe environment to participate and learn.

Respect for confidentiality

- 10. Trustees shall keep confidential any information disclosed or discussed at a meeting of the BoT or committee of the BoT, or part of a meeting of the BoT or a committee of the BoT, that was closed to the public as outlined in the Education Act, and keep confidential the substance of deliberations of such meeting closed to the public, unless required to divulge such information by law or authorized by the BoT to do so.
- 11. No Trustee shall use confidential information for either personal gain or to the detriment of the BoT.

12. Trustees shall not divulge confidential information, including personal information about an identifiable individual or information subject to solicitor-client privilege that a Trustee becomes aware of because of his or her position, except when required by law or authorized by the BoTto do so.

Upholding decisions

- 13. Trustees shall accept that authority rests with the BoT, and that a Trustee has no individual authority other than that delegated by the BoT.
- 14. Trustees shall uphold the implementation of any BoT resolution after it is passed by the BoT.
- 15. Trustees may respectfully state a personal position on a decision provided it does not in any way undermine the implementation of the decision.
- 16. Trustees shall comply with the BoT's policies and procedures.
- 17. The Chair of the BoT is the spokesperson to the public on behalf of the BoT, unless otherwise determined by the BoT. No other Trustee shall speak on behalf of the BoT unless expressly authorized by the BoT or Chair of the BoT to do so. When individual Trustees express their opinions in public, they must make it clear that they are not speaking on behalf of the BoT.

2.4.2 Procedures

Identifying a Breach of the Code

- 1. A Trustee who has reasonable grounds to believe that a Trustee has breached the BoT's Code of Conduct may bring the alleged breach to the attention of the BoT. This is done through the Chair of the BoT.
- 2. Any allegation of a breach of the Code of Conduct shall be investigated following the Informal Complaint Procedure, or, the Formal Complaint Procedure, as the case may be.
- 3. Any allegations of a breach of the Code of Conduct by a Trustee shall be investigated following the Informal Complaint Procedure initially as it is recognized that from time to time a contravention of the Code may occur that is committed through inadvertence, or an error of judgment made in good faith. In the spirit of collegiality and the best interests of the BoT, the first purpose of alerting a Trustee to a breach of the Code is to assist the Trustee in understanding their obligations under the Code. Only serious and/or reoccurring breaches of the Code by a Trustee should be investigated following the Formal Complaint Procedure.
 - a. Should the Trustee who alleges the breach of the Code request a Formal Complaint Procedure due to the serious nature of the breach, the Chair and Vice-Chair should conduct a preliminary investigation to determine if a Formal Complaint Procedure should proceed.
 - b. If a Trustee who alleges the breach of the Code disagrees with the determination of the Chair or Vice-Chair on the determination of whether a Formal Complaint Procedure should proceed, that determination shall be reconsidered and made by an outside consultant.

Chair or Presiding Officer

- 4. The Code of Conduct applies equally to the Chair of the BoT. In the case of an allegation of a breach of the Code by the Chair, wherever a process requires action by the Chair, it shall be modified to read the Vice-Chair of the BoT.
- 5. Each year two Trustees shall be chosen by the BoT to play a part in the procedure when the circumstances warrant that one or both Trustees are needed in place of the Chair and/or Vice-Chair of the BoT to carry out any of the duties of the Trustee who is disqualified. The two Trustees will be designated and ranked as Code of Conduct Review, First Alternate, and Code of Conduct Review, Second Alternate, and, in that order, shall play a part in the procedure corresponding to the disqualified Trustee, if allowed.
- 6. Nothing in this procedure prevents the Chair or Presiding Officer of any meeting of the BoT or committee of the BoT from exercising their power pursuant to s. 207(3) of the Education Act to "expel or exclude from any meeting any person who has been guilty of improper conduct at the meeting." For greater certainty, this may be done at the sole discretion of the Chair or Presiding Officer, as the case may be, and without the necessity of a complaint or conducting an inquiry before an expulsion or exclusion from a meeting. The rationale for this provision is that a Chair or Presiding Officer must have the ability to control a meeting. A Trustee who does not abide by a reasonable expulsion or exclusion from a meeting is deemed to have breached this Code.
- 7. The Chair of the BoT or presiding officer of any meeting of the BoT or committee of the BoT shall exercise their powers in a fair and impartial manner having due regard for the opinion or views of all Trustees and Student Trustees.

8. The Chair of the BoT or presiding officer shall follow the rules of order of the BoT and/or the adopted rules of order and meeting procedures contained in any policy or procedure of the BoT. A breach of a rule of order should be dealt with at the meeting in question by a Trustee rising to a point of order or appealing a ruling of the Chair in accordance with any applicable rule of order. Once such a motion is dealt with by the BoT of Trustees, all Trustees shall abide by that decision and no further action shall be undertaken pursuant to the enforcement of the Code of Conduct, except for persistent improper use of the applicable rules of order by the Chair or presiding officer.

Informal Complaint Procedure

- 9. A complaint shall follow the Informal Complaint Procedure, unless the Trustee who alleges the breach of the Code, at the time of making the complaint requests a Formal Complaint Procedure, in which case the decision-making procedure specified in provisions 12-15 shall be undertaken to determine which Complaint Procedure will be followed.
- 10. The Chair of the BoT, on their own initiative, or at the request of a Trustee who alleges breach of the Code has occurred, and has completed the appropriate form*, may meet informally with a Trustee who is alleged to have breached the Code, to discuss the breach. The purpose of the meeting is to bring the allegation of the breach to the attention of the Trustee and to discuss remedial measures to correct the offending behaviour. The Informal Complaint Procedure is conducted in private and should be documented.
 - *The form will be available in the Director's Office.
- 11. The remedial measures may include, for example, a warning, an apology, and/or the requirement of the Trustee to engage in the successful completion of professional development training such as that offered by the Ontario Education Services Corporation's Professional Development Program for School Board Trustees. If the Chair of the BoT and the Trustee alleged to have breached this Code cannot agree on a remedy, then the Chair may initiate a Formal Complaint Procedure against the Trustee alleged to have breached the Code

Formal Complaint Procedure

Initiating a Formal Inquiry

- 12. A Formal Inquiry will be undertaken if the Chair and Vice-Chair, or the appointed outside consultant, agree with the Trustee who alleges breach of the Code that a serious breach has occurred. The BoT will collectively determine whether the Chair and Vice-Chair or an outside consultant should conduct the inquiry according to the qualifications required. If the BoT decides that an outside consultant should conduct the inquiry, the consultant will be appointed by the Director. In appointing a consultant, the Director will ensure that such an individual or body is qualified to undertake such engagement.
- 13. If the Chair and Vice-Chair have a declared conflict of interest regarding the complaint, an outside consultant appointed by the Director will conduct the inquiry.
- 14. If the Chair and Vice-Chair of the BoT or outside consultant, if engaged, are of the opinion that the complaint is out of time, frivolous, vexatious or not made in good faith, or that there are no grounds or insufficient grounds for a formal inquiry, a Formal Inquiry shall not be conducted and a confidential report stating the reasons for not doing so shall be provided to all Trustees.
- 15. If an allegation of a breach of the Code of Conduct on its face is with respect to the non-compliance with a more specific BoT policy with a separate complaint procedure, the allegation shall be processed under that procedure.

Steps of a Formal Inquiry

- 16. If a Formal Inquiry of an allegation of a breach of the Code of Conduct is undertaken, it shall be done by a qualified professional consistent with the nature of the breach. Existing resources within the HWDSB may be utilized if such expertise exists, if not, external expertise should be brought in.
- 17. Regardless of who undertakes the Formal Inquiry the following steps shall be followed.
- 18. The Chair of the BoT shall provide to all Trustees a confidential copy of the complaint within ten (10) days of receiving it. The complaint, any response to the complaint and the investigation of the complaint shall be confidential until it is before the BoT for a decision as to whether or not the Trustee has breached the Code.
- 19. The *Statutory Powers Procedure Act* does not apply to anything done regarding the Enforcement of this Code of Conduct. No formal trial-type hearing will be conducted.
- 20. Procedural fairness and unbiased process shall govern the Formal Inquiry. The Formal Inquiry will be conducted in private.
- 21. The Formal Inquiry may involve both written and oral statements by any witnesses, the Trustee bringing the complaint and the Trustee who is alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct.
- 22. The Trustee who is alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct shall have an opportunity to respond to the allegations both in a private meeting with the person(s) undertaking the Formal Inquiry and in writing.
- 23. It is expected that the Formal Inquiry will be conducted within a reasonable period of time which will depend on the circumstances of the case. The Trustee who is alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct shall provide a written response to the allegations within ten (10) days of receiving the written allegation, or such extended period of the time as the investigators deem appropriate in the circumstance.
- 24. If the Trustee who is alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct refuses to participate in the Formal Inquiry, the Formal Inquiry will continue in their absence.
- 25. Once the Formal Inquiry is complete, the investigators shall provide a confidential draft copy of their report containing the findings of fact to the Trustee who is alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct and the Trustee who brought the complaint for their written comment to the investigator(s). The purpose of providing the draft report to the parties is to ensure no errors of fact are contained in it. The two Trustees shall have ten (10) days (or such reasonable period of time as deemed appropriate by the investigator(s) from the receipt of the draft report to provide a written response. Written responses will be attached to the final report.
- 26. If the Chair and Vice-Chair of the BoT conduct the inquiry and cannot agree on the final finding of facts, the Formal Inquiry shall be reconsidered de novo by an outside consultant. The outside consultant will be appointed by the Director.

Suspension of Formal Inquiry

27. If the investigators, when conducting the Formal Inquiry, discover that the subject-matter of the Formal Inquiry is being investigated by police, that a charge has been laid, or is being dealt with in accordance with a procedure established under another *Act*, the Formal Inquiry shall be suspended until the police investigation, charge or matter under another *Act* has been finally disposed of. This shall be reported to the rest of the BoT.

Decision

- 28. Upon completion of the final report and as soon as practical, the Chair shall present the final report to the BoT so that the BoT may decide whether or not the Code of Conduct has been breached and whether to impose a sanction.
- 29. Trustees shall consider only the findings in the final report when voting on the decision and sanction. No Trustee shall undertake their own investigation of the matter.
- 30. If the BoT, based on the outcome of the investigations, determines that there has been no breach of the Code of Conduct or that a contravention occurred, although the Trustee took all reasonable measures to prevent it, or that a contravention occurred that was committed through inadvertence, or an error of judgment made in good faith, no sanction shall be imposed.
- 31. The determination of a breach of the Code of Conduct and the imposition of a sanction with respect to a complaint investigated in accordance with the Formal Complaint Procedure must be done by resolution of the BoT based on the recommendations, outcome and facts established by the investigation at a meeting of the BoT, and the vote on the resolution shall be open to the public. The resolutions shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. The reasons for the decision shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.
- 32. Despite s. 207 (1) of the *Education Act*, the part of the meeting of the BoT during which a breach or alleged breach of the BoT's Code of Conduct is considered may be closed to the public when the breach or alleged breach involves any of the matters described in clauses 207(2) (a) to (e) being:
 - a. the security of the property of the BoT;
 - b. the disclosure of intimate, personal or financial information in respect of a member of the BoT or committee, an employee or prospective employee of the BoT or a pupil or his or her parent or guardian;
 - c. the acquisition or disposal of a school site;
 - d. decisions in respect of negotiations with employees of the BoT; or
 - e. litigation affecting the BoT.
- 33. The Trustee who is alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct shall not vote on a resolution to determine whether or not there is a breach or the imposition of a sanction. The Trustee who brought the complaint to the attention of the BoT may vote on those resolutions.
- 34. The Trustee who is alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct may be present during the deliberations regarding the above but shall not participate in the deliberations, and shall not be required to answer any questions at that meeting.
- 35. The Trustee who is alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct shall not in any way, after the final report is completed, influence the vote on the decision of breach or sanction, except as permitted below after these decisions have been made.

Sanctions

- 36. If the BoT, based on investigation of a Formal Complaint, determines that the Trustee has breached the BoT's Code of Conduct, the BoT may impose one or more of the following sanctions:
 - a. Censure of the Trustee.
 - b. Barring the Trustee from attending all or part of a meeting of the BoT or a meeting of a committee of the BoT.
 - c. Barring the member from sitting on one or more committees of the BoT, for the period of time specified by the BoT.
 - d. Suspending the member from for a period of time specified by the BoT.
- 37. The BoT shall not impose a sanction which is more onerous than the above but may impose one that is less onerous such as a warning or a requirement that the Trustee successfully complete specified professional development courses at the expense of the BoT. The BoT has no power to declare the Trustee's seat vacant.
- 38. A Trustee who is barred from attending all or part of a meeting of the BoT or a meeting of a committee of the BoT is not entitled to receive any materials that relate to that meeting or that part of the meeting and that are not available to members of the public.
- 39. The imposition of a sanction barring a Trustee from attending all or part of a meeting of the BoT shall be deemed to be authorization for the Trustee to be absent from the meeting and therefore, not in violation of the *Education Act* regarding absences from meetings.

Reconsideration

- 40. If the investigation of a Formal Inquiry determines that a Trustee has breached the BoT's Code of Conduct the BoT shall,
 - a. Give the Trustee written notice of the determination, the reasons for the decision and any sanction imposed by the BoT;
 - b. the notice shall inform the Trustee that he or she may make written submissions to the BoT in respect of the determination or sanction by the date specified in the notice that is at least fourteen (14) days after the notice is received by the Trustee; and
 - c. consider any submissions made by the Trustee and shall confirm or revoke the determination and confirm, vary or revoke a sanction, if applicable, within forty-five (45) days after the submissions are received.
- 41. If the BoT revokes a determination, any sanction imposed by the BoT is revoked and, within fourteen (14) days, the Chair shall give the Trustee written notice of the determination.
- 42. If a sanction is varied or revoked, the variation or revocation shall be deemed to be effective as of the date the original determination was made.
- 43. The BoT decisions to confirm or revoke a determination or confirm, vary or revoke a sanction shall be done by resolution at a meeting of the BoT and the vote on the resolution shall be open to the public. The resolutions shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting together with the reasons for confirming or revoking a

determination. The BoT shall provide to the Trustee alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct written notice of the decision to confirm or revoke the determination together with reasons for the decision and written notice of any decision to confirm, vary or revoke a sanction. The Trustee alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct shall not vote on those resolutions. [Education Act, s. 218.3(12)] The Trustee who brought the complaint may vote.

- 44. The Trustee who is alleged to have breached the Code of Conduct may be present during the deliberations regarding the above but may not participate in the deliberations and shall not be required to answer any questions at that meeting.
- 45. If appropriate, the original sanction may be stayed pending the reconsideration by the BoT of the determination or sanction.

3. Officers and Committees

3.1 Chair's Role

The Chair of Hamilton-Wentworth District School Board (HWDSB) is a servant of the Board of Trustees (BoT) and therefore its purpose is to safeguard the integrity of the HWDSB's processes and represents the BoT to the broader community. The Chair ensures that each Trustee has a full and fair opportunity to be heard and understood by the other members of the BoT in order that collective opinion can be developed and a corporate decision reached. The ability of the Board of Trustees to discharge its obligations is enhanced by the leadership and guidance provided by the Chair.

The Chair of the HWDSB has authority for these duties as granted by the BoT:

- 1. To be the chief spokesperson for the Board of Trustees in relation to BoT policy except where this has been delegated by the Chair to another individual or group.
- 2. To promote the interests of a diverse school system.
- 3. To ensure fairness and inclusivity in BoT deliberations and decision-making processes.
- 4. To aid in establishing and maintaining good relations with all external and internal stakeholders which the BoT serves.
- 5. To preside at BoT meetings, both public and in camera sessions and at informal meetings of the trustees.
- 6. To ensure that the BoT engages in an annual review or self-evaluation of its effectiveness.
- 7. To present an address in celebration of achievements of the BoT over the past year at the November Board meeting.
- 8. To be a member of the Governance Committee.
- 9. To meet with the Director of Education to keep an overview of the BoT's business and to provide support as appropriate.
- 10. To establish effective strategies to communicate with the other trustees, and to consult in a timely fashion with fellow trustees regarding pertinent information concerning BoT business and actions privy to the Board Chair.
- 11. To make use of all training and access resources such as equity, diversity, and inclusion training.
- 12. To be an ex officio member of committees comprised of Trustees only with voting privilege only if their attendance is needed to make a quorum.
- 13. To act as one of the signing officers of the BoT.

14. To provide advice and support to all members of the BoT, including Student Trustees and Shakowennakara:tats (in collaboration with the Student Trustee Mentor, Table Mentors and designated staff), when requested. The Chair is not responsible for reviewing comments, questions or statements in advance of any meetings (unless requested by a member), however, all members' comments, questions or statements are expected to be issue-based, on topic, not personal and respectful of all members of the Board as well as students and staff.

3.2 Vice-Chair's Role

The Vice-Chair of the Board is elected by the BoT to share the leadership role of the Chair. The Vice-Chair assists the Chair in ensuring that the Board operates in accordance with its own policies. The BoT's ability to discharge its obligations is enhanced by the leadership and guidance provided by the Vice-Chair.

The Vice-Chair of the Board of Trustees has the following duties:

- 1. To perform all the duties of the Chair when the Chair is absent.
- 2. To ensure fairness and inclusivity in BoT deliberations and decision-making processes.
- 3. To preside at Standing Committee/Committee of the Whole sessions, both public and in-camera.
- 4. To participate in developing and tracking the agendas of the Standing Committee/Committee of the Whole meetings.
- 5. To be a member of the Governance Committee.
- 6. To be an ex officio member of committees comprised of trustees only with voting privilege only if his/her attendance is needed to make a quorum.
- 7. To perform duties and responsibilities assigned by the Board Chair.
- 8. To be an alternate signing officer of the BoT.
- 9. To act as mentor the for Student Trustees in the absence of another designated Trustee or Shakowennakara:tats mentor.

3.3 Role of Student Trustees

1. The BoT will have at least 2, and not more than 3 Student Trustees (Ontario Education Act, Regulation 7/07, section 3) one of whom shall be from the Shakowennakara:tats community.

Purpose of Student Trustees

- 2. The BoT is committed to including the voices of the student population and will ensure that the student perspective is considered in the decisions of the members of the BoT. One method of ensuring that students are heard is through the positions of the elected Student Trustees.
- 3. Student Trustees are elected to represent the interests of students on the BoT (Education Act, Section 55 (1)). The BoT expects that the Student Trustees represent the interests of students during deliberations of the BoT.

Obligation of the BoT to Student Trustees

- 4. The BoT takes responsibility for communicating with students and ensuring student engagement. Communication includes listening to students and understanding their needs and values, as well as ensuring that BoT decisions are understood by students. The BoT commits to working with the Student Trustees to create regular and on-going opportunities for this two-way communication between the BoT and the students. Student Trustees will have the opportunity to work with the BoT to design mechanisms for communication and will have resources and support from BoT and the HWDSB.
- 5. Since Student Trustees are students in the HWDSB, the BoT and HWDSB have an obligation to ensure that Student Trustees are always in a safe environment and are properly and professionally supervised at all times, just as if they were in a classroom. This includes ensuring that the Student Trustees have training, resources, and on-going professional and appropriate support at all times.

Role of Student Trustees

- 6. The Education Act says that Student Trustees shall have the *same opportunities for participation* at all meetings of the BoT and of its committees as Trustees have (Section 55 (5)). The Act also says that Student Trustees have the same access to BoT resources and opportunities for training as Trustees have. (Section 55(7)). However, the legislation limits the role of Student Trustees as follows:
 - a. Student Trustees are not members of the BoT and therefore not entitled to exercise a binding vote *Section 55(2)*.
 - b. Student Trustees cannot make a motion, but can suggest a motion (Section 55 (4)).

Rights of Student Trustees

- 7. Despite the limitations of the legislation, the BoT believes that Student Trustees are entitled to:
 - a. Full participation at Trustee meetings,

- b. Payment (at minimum, the honorarium stipulated by the Ontario Education Act, and consideration of academic credit),
- c. Full and on-going training, orientation and support regarding their role including:
 - Best practices in governance,
 - Expectations for preparedness, attendance, input during discussion, making motions, suggesting agenda items, and all procedural rules including how to bring forth an agenda item.
- d. Resources and assistance, including knowing who they can contact whenever they have a question and who their mentors are,
- e. Professional development opportunities (see section 3.3, provision 13 ("Conferences and Expenses")).
- f. Awareness of their protection against liability,
- g. Understand the role of their input, including safety of their participation and the right to be heard.

Mentors and Orientation

- 8. The BoT will always ensure that at least one Trustee is available to act as mentor for the Student Trustee. The role of mentor for the Student Trustee is to facilitate a safe environment for participation as the Student Trustee is a student in the HWDSB. The mentors will sit with and advise the Student Trustee during BoT meetings. The mentor is also an advisor, counsellor, teacher and protector. Therefore, the selection of the mentor is important, and the Student Trustee has the right to choose their mentor Trustee or Trustees. All other Trustees on the BoT also have the same obligation to provide them with a safe environment to participate and learn.
- 9. Orientation for the newly elected Student Trustees shall be provided by the Trustee Mentor, outgoing Student Trustees, Officer of Trustee Services and Superintendent responsible for Student Trustees. Orientation sessions will take place prior to the end of the term of the outgoing Student Trustees and throughout the school year. During their term, Student Trustees may request additional information or assistance, as required.
- 10. If a student trustee is under the age of 18, the parent/guardian/caregiver will be invited to attend all meetings.

Access to BoT Resources

11. Student Trustees have the same access to professional development opportunities, conferences, etc., as provided to Trustees. The Student Trustees shall have the same access to material and information as Trustees to allow for participation at meetings of the BoT and at meetings of committees of the BoT. Student Trustees should experience no barriers to participation.

Expectations of Student Trustees

12. Student Trustees are expected to know the HWDSB Board of Trustees Policy Manual, including all procedures of the BoT, e.g., attendance, behaviour.

Conferences and Expenses

.....

13. Student Trustees may attend all Ontario School Trustees' Association (OSTA) conferences, when possible. When travel is required outside the jurisdiction of the BoT when carrying out the responsibilities of a student trustee, and when under the age of 18, parental consent is required, and travel expenses will be paid to the student in advance. Any expenses incurred for conferences or otherwise reasonably incurred in connection with carrying out the duties of Student Trustee will be paid in advance.

Inclusive Participation

14. To ensure a fair representation of Student Trustees, the HWDSB shall actively put in place structures that encourage inclusive participation of students from diverse backgrounds and identities.

Conflict of Interest and Code of Conduct

- 15. Since Student Trustees are not members of the BoT, the conflict-of-interest provisions in the *Municipal Conflict of Interest Act* does not apply to them. However, they are bound by the Attendance and Conflict of Interest Guidelines, which state that they must declare their conflict and excuse themselves from discussions that would lead to a conflict of interest, as set out in the Guidelines.
- 16. During discussion of the matter that gives rise to a conflict, the Student Trustee cannot participate in the discussion, cannot attempt to influence the vote of BoT members, is not entitled to a recorded vote, and cannot suggest a motion.
- 17. In the event that there is a conflict of interest at a closed meeting, the Student Trustee must leave the meeting during the time that the matter giving rise to the conflict is being discussed. When a Student Trustee leaves for this reason, this must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.
- 18. Student Trustees are also bound by the Code of Conduct Policy which applies to all Trustees (see section 2.4).

Selection Process and Vacancy

19. Two Student Trustees will be elected by their peers, with an election being held no later than the last day of February on an annual basis. One Shakowennakara:tats will rise up through CC:ROSE no later than the last day of February on an annual basis. If the BoT determines that a vacancy shall be filled, it shall be filled by a by-election or an appointment, depending on the vacancy.

Motions & Notices of Motions

- 20. Student Trustees and Shakowennakara:tats are eligible to recommend a motion(s) or submit notices of motion with the sponsorship of an elected Ward Trustee who will support the Student Trustee and provide a safe environment. For information on submitting a notice of motion, please refer to section 4.15, "Submitting a Written Notice of Motion or Adding an Item to an Agenda."
- 21. During a meeting (board or committee), students may, with sponsorship of an elected Ward Trustee, request an amendment to a motion already on the floor OR may request a motion be made in response to an item on the agenda.

Requests for A Special Board Meeting

22. Student Trustees can make a request for a special meeting to the Chair and Director

23. Please see Ontario Education Act RSO 1990, Section 55 entitled Student Trustees, and Education Act, Ontario Regulation 7/07, for complete details on legislative requirements and limitations on Student Trustees.

3.4 Committees

3.4.1 Standing

- 1. A standing committee meeting will be called when there is a need for a report to be presented to the BoT that does not have an opportunity to first go through a Trustee Special Committee because it is not part of the committee mandate. A standing committee may also be called when identified as necessary by a Trustee Special Committee.
- 2. The Standing Committee shall be composed of all members of the BoT.
- 3. A member of the Standing Committee who absents themself from three consecutive meetings of the committee without the approval of the committee shall cease to be a member of the committee. This information shall be reported to the BoT.
- 4. The Vice-Chair of the BoT shall Chair Standing Committee meetings.
- 5. Special meetings of the Standing Committee may be called by the Committee Chair, or in the committee Chair's absence, by the Chair of the BoT, or by the Director on the written request of a majority of the members of the committee and upon provision of 24 hours notice to the members.
- 6. The Standing Committee agenda shall be sent by the Director to the members at least 48 hours before the time at which the meeting is to take place. At the discretion of the Chair supplementary agenda material may be sent to the members no later than the day before the meeting.
- 7. The Standing Committee Chair, in consultation with the Director, shall be responsible for the content of the agenda.
- 8. The order of business at Standing Committee meetings shall be as follows:
 - a. Call to Order
 - b. Declarations of Conflicts of Interest
 - c. Delegations
 - d. Approval of Agenda
 - e. Trustee Special Committee and/or Staff Reports
 - f. Motion to Move to Private Session
 - g. Adjournment

- 9. A member may submit a written notice of motion for consideration in the agenda and, from time to time, the BoT may change the agenda format.
- 10. The Standing Committee agenda shall include all the matters that are to be considered, as far as is known.
- 11. The Committee Chair, in consultation with the Director, may add an item to the agenda of the Standing Committee no later than the day before the meeting.
- 12. The Standing Committee shall report and recommend to the BoT on all matters considered by the committee.

Note: For the rules of order for Standing Committee meetings, see section 4.9, "Rules of Order, Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole and Trustee Special Committee."

3.4.2 Committee of the Whole

- 1. The BoT may meet in a public session of Committee of the Whole by majority vote, in order to permit more informal and detailed discussion of a certain matter.
- 2. The BoT shall meet in a private session of the Committee of the Whole by a majority vote, in order to consider private matters.
- 3. The Committee of the Whole shall only consider matters which have been referred to it by the Chair of the BoT and by the BoT.
- 4. The Committee of the Whole shall report and recommend to the BoT in public session on all matters referred to it.

Note: For the rules of order for Standing Committee meetings, see section 4.9, "Rules of Order, Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole and Trustee Special Committee."

For additional information regarding private matters, see section 4.13, "Private Matters."

3.4.3 Trustee Special Committees

- 1. The following are the BoT's Trustee Special Committees:
 - a. Finance and Facilities Committee
 - b. Governance Committee
 - c. Human Resources Committee
 - d. Policy Committee
 - e. Program Committee

Terms of Reference

- 2. The BoT's Trustee Special Committees are subject to the terms and rules of order as outlined in the BoT's Governance Policies and Procedures (see section 4.8, "Trustee Special Committees," and section 4.9, "Rules of Order, Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole and Trustee Special Committee). The policies and procedures provide direction regarding the following:
 - a. How Trustee Special Committees are established
 - b. Routine member
 - c. First meeting and election of committee chair
 - d. Term of office
 - e. Ex officio members
 - f. Attendance requirement
 - g. Schedule of meetings and special meetings
 - h. Agenda preparation
 - i. Reporting structure
 - j. Creating the Agenda
 - k. Rules of Order for meetings

Membership

3. Finance and Facilities Committee: the committee membership will be made up of three to five trustees, appointed by the BoT.

- 4. Governance Committee: the committee membership will be the Chair and Vice-chair of the BoT, and three other members, appointed by the BoT, one of whom may be the past-Chair of the BoT. Preferably, for continuity, the past chair of the Governance Committee would be one of the three members.
- 5. Human Resources Committee: the committee membership will be made up of three to five trustees, appointed by the BoT.
- 6. Policy Committee: the committee membership will be made up of three to five trustees, appointed by the BoT.
- 7. Program Committee: the committee membership will be made up of three to five trustees, appointed by the
- 8. All Chairs of the Trustee Special Committees will be available for consultation with staff at his/her request.
- 9. Quorum is defined as the majority of the members as outlined in the Governance Policies and Procedures under General Provisions

Staff Resources

- 10. The Director shall assign staff resources as necessary, including a senior staff person and an administrative assistant.
- 11. The senior staff resource person(s) shall provide the BoT's Trustee Special Committees with information when requested and if that information is readily available.
- 12. The administrative assistant shall be responsible for distribution of the agenda, meeting arrangements and completion and routing of the committee report.

3.4.4 Trustee Special Committee: Finance & Facilities

- 1. The purpose of the Finance and Facilities Committee is to make recommendations to the BoT on matters related to financial management and facilities management.
 - a. Financial Management:
 - Non-grant revenue management
 - Procurement
 - Budget Planning and Development
 - Provide advice on budgetary matters and on non-budgeted expenses that occur and report to the BoT
 - Participate in the development and implementation of a communications and consultation plan to provide budget information to the community and to receive from staff comments from parents, students, staff and other stakeholders on budget funding formula and related priorities
 - Consider the impact of other budgetary pressures that may be unique to the HWDSB and make recommendations to the BoT on the budget assumptions/parameters to guide the development of the budget each fiscal year
 - With administration, conduct workshops for all Trustees on the development of the annual budget
 - Monitor provincial budget issues and consider the impact of provincial issues, initiatives, and announcements on HWDSB
 - b. Facilities Management:
 - Planning and Pupil Accommodation
 - To monitor and update HWDSB's Long-Term Facilities Master Plan
 - To review, comment and approve Capital Funding Strategies
 - To review and provide comment on the HWDSB's Annual School Renewal Plan and other school renewal strategies and initiatives
 - To review, comment and approve Accommodation Planning and Property Management strategies and initiatives

 Monitor provincial initiatives and consider their potential impact on the four divisions of Facilities Management including Capital, Planning & Accommodation, Caretaking and Maintenance & Energy

3.4.5 Trustee Special Committee: Governance

The purpose of the Governance Committee is:

- 1. To make recommendations to the BoT on matters related to governance procedures.
- 2. To monitor the function of the BoT, review and develop Governance statements, policies, and procedures.
- 3. To ensure that a comprehensive review of the BoT Policy Manual is completed, at minimum, once within every four year term.
- 4. To develop, with the Director, a Director's Performance Appraisal.
- 5. To maintain an annual governance workplan which includes Trustees' professional development in alignment with the Ontario Public School Boards' Association (OPSBA) Guide to Good Governance and other relevant frameworks.
- 6. To support Trustee orientation.
- 7. To develop political advocacy with all levels of government and associated agencies.
- 8. To promote equity and inclusion in the procedures and overall governance of the BoT.

3.4.6 Trustee Special Committee: Human Resources

- 1. The purpose of the Human Resources Committee is to make recommendations to the BoT on matters related to human resources.
 - a. Labour Relations/Employee Relations:
 - To develop mandates for negotiations with employee groups
 - To receive and give advice on matters related to collective bargaining and grievances
 - To review and provide advice on salary, benefit adjustments and terms/conditions of employment for all non-union administrative employees
 - To consider matters referred by the BoT or by administration which may be related to, but not necessarily specified in employee group collective agreements
 - To monitor the health and wellness of HWDSB employees through data such as staff turnover, retention rates, staff satisfaction surveys, grievances, etc., consistent with principles of equity, diversity, and inclusion.
 - To promote fairness and equity in matters related to employee work conditions and compensation.
 - b. Staff Engagement:
 - Monitor our culture of trust, high expectations and efficacy in the system through professional learning and through leadership development
 - Support HWDSB Service departments in providing Exemplary Service
- 2. The Human Resources Committee will also inform the BoT of legislative and provincial changes and the impact those changes may have on HWDSB

3.4.7 Trustee Special Committee: Policy

The purpose of the Policy Committee is:

- 1. To make recommendations to the BoT on matters related to policy.
- 2. To review and evaluate BoT policies
- 3. To maintain a regular process for policy review and evaluation
- 4. Receive input that has been sought and received from community, staff, students and parents
- 5. To receive and/or request directives for discussion, and to offer suggestions for consideration
- 6. To ensure the maintenance of accurate and current records of all BoT policies

3.4.8 Trustee Special Committee: Program

The purpose of the Program Committee is:

- 1. To make recommendations to the BoT on matters related to programming offered to students at HWDSB.
- 2. To review program-related issues
- 3. To receive program-related reports from Staff
- 4. To monitor implementation and evaluation of HWDSB's Program Strategies

3.4.9 Statutory Committee: Special Education Advisory Committee

The establishment of a special education advisory committee is a requirement under the <u>Education Act</u> subsection 57.1 (1) which states: "Every district school board shall establish a special education advisory committee."

O. Reg. 464/97, Special Education Advisory Committees, sets out the requirements for special education advisory committees.

Terms of Reference

The following is a table of contents for information that is set out in O. Reg. 464 and the section numbers referenced relate to the regulation.

- 1. Members, Alternates, ss. 2, 3
- 2. Qualifications, s. 5
- 3. Term, s. 6
- 4. Vacancy, ss. 7, 8
- 5. Chair, Vice-chair, Meetings, s. 9
- 6. Resources, s. 10
- 7. Mandate, s. 11
- 8. Annual review, annual budget process and financial statements, s. 12

IN ADDITION TO the provisions of O. Reg. 464, the BoT has made the following decisions related to its Special Education Advisory Committee.

- 9. Membership: The membership of its SEAC shall reflect the range of exceptionalities within the school district
- 10. The BoT's rules of order for special committees (see section 4.9, "Rules of Order, Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole and Trustee Special Committees") shall govern the order and conduct of the meeting of the Special Education Advisory Committee.
- 11. Responsibilities of Members: Each member is expected:
 - a. To respond to the needs of all exceptional students under the jurisdiction of HWDSB
 - b. To protect the right to privacy of individual pupils and family members by not discussing or sharing information about individual students
 - c. To acquire and maintain a working knowledge of the Special Education programs and services provided by HWDSB

- d. To present to the Committee the interests, concerns and suggestions of the association which the member represents regarding the programs and services of the HWDSB
- e. To suggest items of concern for inclusion on the agenda
- f. To suggest appropriate educational topics for discussion
- g. To make motions for consideration
- h. To keep the association which the member represents informed of the proceedings of the Committee
- i. To be available as an informed and knowledgeable resource to the parents of exceptional children, potentially providing information on the Special Education programs, services and procedures of HWDSB including in particular the Identification, Placement and Review process and appeals
- j. To be available as an informed and knowledgeable resource for schools and the community
- k. To attend meetings on a regular basis, or to inform the alternate and the Committee chair or secretary when the member cannot attend a meeting and to arrange for the alternate to attend the meeting on behalf of the member.
- I. To promote equity and inclusion in the Special Education programs and services provided by the HWDSB
- 12. Resources Provided: The BoT will make available the personnel and facilities necessary for the proper functioning of the committee
- 13. The BoT will provide the members of SEAC and their alternates with timely information and orientation regarding:
 - a. The role of SEAC and the BoT in relation to special education
 - b. Ministry and HWDSB policies and BoT decisions relating to Special Education programs and services
 - c. Prior to making a decision on a recommendation made by SEAC, the BoT will provide an opportunity for SEAC to make a delegation to the appropriate committee in accordance with the Board Governance Procedure, Delegations (see section 4.16).

3.4.10 Statutory Committee: Supervised Alternative Learning for Excused Pupils Committee

The establishment of a supervised alternative learning committee is a requirement under the *Education Act*, section 11 (8) which states: "Subject to the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, the Minister may make regulations governing the excusal of persons who are at least 14 years old from compulsory attendance at school under Part II."

Terms of Reference

O. Reg. 374/10, Supervised Alternative Learning and Other Excusals From Attendance at School sets out the requirements for supervised alternative learning committees. The regulation stipulates that at least one trustee shall be appointed to supervised alternative learning committees

3.4.11 Statutory Committee: Parent Involvement Committee

The establishment of a parent involvement committee is a requirement under the <u>Education Act</u> subsection 17.1 (1) which states: "The Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations respecting parent involvement committees, including regulations requiring boards to establish parent involvement committees and regulations relating to their establishment, composition and functions."

O. Reg. 612/00 School Councils and Parent Involvement Committees, Part III, sets out the requirements for parent involvement committees.

Terms of Reference

The following is a table of contents for information that is set out in O. Reg. 612, Part III, and the section numbers referenced relate to the regulation.

- 1. Purpose, ss. 27-28
- 2. Continuation and Establishment of Committees, s. 29
- 3. Composition of Committees, Transition, ss. 30-32
- 4. Composition of Committees, General, s. 33
- 5. Parent Members, s. 34
- 6. Vacancies, ss. 35-36
- 7. Term of Office, s. 37
- 8. Officers, s. 38
- 9. Remuneration, s. 39
- 10. Meetings, s. 40
- 11. Subcommittees, s. 41
- 12. Voting, s. 42
- 13. By-laws, s. 43
- 14. Minutes and Financial Records, s. 44
- 15. Incorporation, s. 45
- 16. Delegation by the Director of Education and the Board Member, s. 46
- 17. Consultation by Board, s. 47

- 18. Consultation by Ministry, s. 48
- 19. Consultation by Parent Involvement Committee, s. 49
- 20. Summary of Activities, s. 50

IN ADDITION TO the provisions of O. Reg. 612, Part III, the Board has made the following decisions related to its Parent Involvement Committee.

Value of a Parent Involvement Committee

Members of the Parental Involvement Committee (PIC) are valued partners of the HWDSB. Advice from the parental perspective is much needed, and appreciated. The PIC will champion and demonstrate a commitment to parental engagement, contribute to productive meetings, participate in subcommittees when required, represent the broad parent interest with respect to all PIC work and deliberations, provide input and feedback and raise issues as members of the advisory committee.

3.4.12 Statutory Committee: Suspensions Appeals and Expulsion Hearings Committee

The Education Act, Part XIII, Behaviour, Discipline and Safety, includes provisions for suspension appeals and expulsion hearings. The relevant sections of the Education Act are:

Terms of Reference

- 1. Appeal of suspension, s. 309.
- 2. Hearing of appeal, s. 309. (6)
- 3. Appeal process, 309. (7)
- 4. Powers on appeal, 309. (10)
- 5. Decision final, 309. (11)
- 6. Committee, 309. (12)
- 7. Expulsion hearing by board, s. 311.3
- 8. Submissions and views of parties, s. (5)
- 9. Decision, s. (6)
- 10. Factors the board must consider, s. (7)
- 11. Restriction on expulsion, s. (8)
- 12. Committee, s. (9)

IN ADDITION TO the provisions of the Education Act, the HWDSB has made the following decisions related to its suspension appeals and expulsion hearings.

- 13. Membership of the suspension appeal and expulsion hearing committees: The Education Act perform powers and duties on behalf of the board..." related to suspension appeals and suspension appeal and expulsion hearing committees.
- 14. Quorum: Three members
- 15. Meetings: Meetings will be called by the Chair of the Board at the request of the Superintendent of Safe Schools to ensure meetings fall within the statutory deadlines.

3.4.13 Community Advisory Committees

General

- 1. The mandate for Community Advisory Committees is to provide the BoT with advice and recommendations from the community on specific areas of HWDSB policy or program consistent with the Education Act and the policies of the HWDSB, and on services that affect the educational success and well-being of HWDSB students.
- 2. The establishment and membership of a community advisory committee shall be considered by the BoT each year between September 1 and November 30.
- 3. Should a community advisory committee not meet with quorum at least once per school year, the committee will cease to exist and will not be re-established the following academic year.
- 4. The following community advisory committees have been established by the BoT. This list will be automatically updated to reflect BoT approval of community advisory committees.
 - a. First Nations, Métis and Inuit Community Advisory Committee
 - b. French as a Second Language Community Advisory Committee
 - c. Rural Schools Community Advisory Committee
 - d. Faith Community Advisory Committee
 - e. Human Rights & Equity Advisory Committee

Membership

- 5. The Director shall recommend members for appointment to a community advisory committee reflective of the school community no later than November 30.
- 6. Members of a community advisory committee shall be appointed by the BoT.
- 7. A community advisory committee shall have no more than 13 community members and no fewer than seven.
- 8. Quorum shall be determined as 50% plus 1 of committee members.
- 9. Students attending a Board secondary school may be members.
- 10. A community advisory may have one or two Trustees, appointed by the BoT, who may participate in the meetings but will not count towards quorum or have voting privileges. Trustee membership will be decided at the Organizational Board Meeting in December.

- 11. A community advisory committee shall appoint a chair or co-chairs from among its members at the first meeting each year.
- 12. The term of office for a member of a community advisory committee shall be one or two years commencing on September 1 and ending on June 30.
- 13. When a community advisory committee is established, the members shall be divided into members willing to serve for a one-year term and those willing to serve for a two-year term in order to initiate staggered terms.
- 14. Under normal circumstances a member who has served for more than two consecutive terms or partial terms shall be replaced by a new member; however, the Board may approve that an individual member be appointed for more than two consecutive terms or partial terms.
- 15. If a member is appointed mid-term, the committee shall recommend whether the term should end on June 30 of the current year or the following year.

Duties of members

- 16. If absent from a meeting, a member shall be permitted to send a person as the member's replacement. The replacement person shall be permitted to participate in the discussion but may not vote on behalf of the appointed member. The replacement person shall be responsible for reporting on the activities of the meeting to the appointed member.
- 17. If a member is absent from three consecutive meetings, without the permission of the committee, the position shall be considered vacant, and a replacement member shall be appointed.

Agenda items

- 18. The chair or co-chairs, in consultation with the senior resource person, shall be responsible for the content of the agenda. Committee members may recommend agenda items subject to the approval by the chair or co-chairs.
- 19. A community advisory committee shall consider matters related to the mandate of the committee: (a) as referred to the committee by the BoT or the Director, or (b) of significant importance to the committee members.

Staff Resources

- 20. The Director shall provide a community advisory committee with meeting space.
- 21. The Director shall assign staff resources as necessary, including a senior staff person and an administrative assistant.
- 22. The senior staff resource person shall provide the community advisory committee with information when requested and if that information is readily available.
- 23. The administrative assistant shall be responsible for distribution of the agenda, meeting arrangements and completion and routing of the committee report.

24. A community advisory committee shall not cause a significant amount of staff work to be undertaken or cause the duties of the administrative assistant to be expanded.

Meetings

- 25. A community advisory committee shall meet at least once per year, with quorum and provide a committee report to the Board of Trustees.
- 26. A community advisory committee shall not meet during July or August unless requested to do so by the Chair of the Board.
- 27. A community advisory committee meeting shall be open to the public for observation and notice of the meeting shall be posted on HWDSB's website.

Rules of order

28. A community advisory committee shall follow the BoT's Governance Policies and Procedures with respect to the rules of order for committees, where applicable.

Reporting

- 29. After each meeting of a community advisory committee a committee report shall be prepared in lieu of minutes.
- 30. The administrative assistant shall be responsible for preparation of the committee report.
- 31. The community advisory committee report shall be in the same format as those for the Board's other committees.
- 32. A community advisory committee report shall be presented to a special committee of the Board, the Standing Committee or the Board, at the discretion of the Chair of the Board and the Director.
- 33. The Director may decide that commentary, background or contextual information, and/or a recommendation from staff is necessary to ensure that trustees have comprehensive information on which to base a decision. When this is deemed necessary, the Director will issue a separate staff report to accompany the community advisory report.

3.4.14 Rules of Order for Standing Committees, Committee of the Whole and Trustee Special Committees

- 1. The rules of order for Board meetings (section 4.5), with the necessary changes, shall apply to Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole (Private Session) and Trustee Special Committees meetings, with the following exceptions.
- 2. At a Trustee Special Committee, motions shall not require a seconder.
- 3. A member may have a matter added to the agenda of a committee as an item of new business provided a majority of the members of the committee agree to consider it.
- 4. A motion to call the question shall not be considered in Standing Committee until all members who wish to speak have had an opportunity to do so (See also Policies 5.15, 5.16, 5.17).
- 5. Speaking time limits and restrictions (Policy 5.3) shall not apply to Trustee Special Committee meetings.
- 6. If a minority of a Trustee Special Committee disagrees with a recommendation to be made by a majority of the members, the minority may present an alternative position to the BoT in the form of a minority report attached for information to the majority recommendation. Minority reports shall be presented to the committee in writing before the committee adjourns.
- 7. A motion to do the following shall not be in order in committee:
 - a. Table consideration of the motion indefinitely;
 - b. Reconsider a decision previously made by the BoT, unless the motion to reconsider the decision was referred to the committee by the BoT;
 - c. Temporarily suspend the rules.
- 8. Standing Committee and Trustee Special Committee meetings shall adjourn at a time established in the agenda or at the shall of the members.
- 9. A Committee of the Whole shall not consider a motion to adjourn.
- 10. The Committee of the Whole may end the meeting at any time to report progress. A motion to review the Chair's report to the public and end the meeting is decided without debate.

4. Rules of Procedures

If rules of procedures are silent on a rule of order, *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised (Edition 12)* shall be the authority. However, although *Robert's Rules of Order* may advise the BoT on procedure and order, the BoT shall first and foremost be governed by the Roles, Values, Accountabilities, and Code of Conduct outlined in the HWDSB BoT Policy Manual. As such, the use of *Robert's Rules of Order* must be used in the furtherance of the outlined Roles, Values, Accountabilities, and Code of Conduct.

4.1 Organizational Board Meeting

- 1. The purpose of the organizational Board meeting shall be to:
 - a. elect the Chair of the Board
 - b. elect the Vice-Chair of the Board
 - c. consider the establishment and re-establishment of Trustee Special Committees and appoint members and elect Trustee Special Committee Chairs
 - d. consider the establishment and re-establishment of Community Advisory Committees and appoint members
 - e. appoint members of legislated committees
 - f. appoint members to represent the Board on external organizations
 - g. adopt a schedule of meeting dates and times for regular Board and Standing Committee meetings for the following year, if the Board has not yet done so (E.A. 208(6), 170.4)
- 2. The organizational meeting of the Board in each year shall be held not later than the eighth day of December (E.A. 208(4)).
- 3. The Director shall preside until the Chair of the Board is elected (E.A. 208(4)).
- 4. If the meeting is also an inaugural meeting, the Director shall read the election returns as certified by the clerks of the municipalities whereupon the elected members shall take their places.

Note: Election of the Chair and Vice-Chair shall be conducted as provided in 4.1.5 to 4.1.15.

- 5. The term of office in each case shall be one year, or until a successor is elected:
 - a. The Chair of the Board. Upon election, the Chair shall take over Chairing the meeting.

- b. The Vice-Chair of the Board shall assume the role of chair in the absence of the chair.
- 6. The trustees shall appoint two staff members as scrutineers. A candidate may appoint a trustee to act as an additional scrutineer.
- 7. Elections shall be administered by secret ballot.
- 8. The Chair shall call for nominations. Nominations do not require seconders.
- 9. Candidates shall be permitted to nominate themselves.
- 10. Nominations shall be closed at the call of the Chair.
- 11. The candidates may give speeches in the reverse order of nomination and limited to a duration of five minutes.
- 12. The scrutineers shall inform the Chair of the election results. The Chair shall announce the results. There shall be no further disclosure of the vote results.
- 13. If no candidate receives a majority of the valid votes cast, the candidate with the fewest votes shall be dropped from the ballot and another vote taken.
- 14. If no one receives a majority of the valid votes cast and there is a tie for last place, the vote shall be conducted once more. If a tie for last place is repeated, a draw shall be conducted among the candidates who are tied and the candidate losing the draw shall be dropped from the ballot.
- 15. If there is a tie vote on the final ballot, the vote shall be conducted once more before drawing lots (E.A., 208(8)).
- 16. During or before the organizational meeting each year, the Board shall approve a schedule of meeting dates and times for regular Board and Standing Committee meetings for the following year. The schedule may be revised by the Board (E.A., 208(6), 170.4).

Note: For the rules of order for Organizational Board meetings, see section 4.5, "Rules of Order for Board Meetings."

4.2 Board Meetings: Regular and Special

- 1. The Chair of the Board, in consultation with the Director, shall be responsible for the content of regular and special Board agendas. Members can request to have items placed on the agenda of regular board meetings at least five days in advance to the chair for consideration.
- 2. Meetings shall commence as soon after the meeting time as a quorum is present.
- 3. If a quorum is not present within 20 minutes after the time appointed for a Board meeting, or if the quorum is lost during the course of the meeting, the meeting shall stand adjourned. The Director shall make a record of Trustees who are present at the time the meeting adjourns.
- 4. Should it be necessary for the Chair of the Board to leave the Chair, the Vice-Chair of the Board shall be called upon, or, in the Vice-Chair's absence, one of the members, to act as Chair. The Vice-Chair or any member temporarily occupying the Chair shall discharge all the duties and enjoy all the rights of the Chair.
- 5. As required, private matters may be considered at both regular and special Board meetings.

4.3 Regular Board Meetings

- 1. The Chair of the Board shall chair regular Board meetings.
- 2. The Director shall notify each member, in writing, of regular Board meetings at least 48 hours before the time at which such meetings are to take place.
- 3. The agenda shall include all the matters that are to be considered, as far as is known.
- 4. The Board of Trustees may adopt, from time to time, a governance procedure for receiving and approving, as appropriate, matters using a consent calendar process at regular Board and Standing Committee meetings.
- 5. A Trustee wishing to have an observance of a special event or a ceremony included in the agenda of a regular Board meeting shall submit a request to the Chair and the Director at least five days prior to the meeting (See also Policy 3.8 (d)). Members are allowed to table such requests at the beginning of a regular meeting during review of the agenda if they are unable to give advance notice.
- 6. Members may submit written notices of motion for consideration in the agenda and, from time to time, the Board may adopt a governance procedure to implement this policy.
- 7. The Chair may, in consultation with the Director, add an item to the agenda no later than the day before the meeting.
- 8. The order of business at regular Board of Trustees meetings shall be as follows, as necessary:
 - a. Call to Order and Land Acknowledgement
 - b. National Anthem (observed as one sees appropriate)
 - c. Attendance and Quorum
 - d. Special Reading, when desired
 - e. Observance of special event such as a student presentation, presentations of awards, memorials, mention of significant event
 - f. Approval of Agenda
 - g. Declarations of Conflicts of Interest
 - h. Confirmation of Minutes
 - i. Communications
 - j. Reports from Trustee Special Committees

- k. Reports from Legislative Committees
- I. Reports from Community Advisory Committees
- m. Staff Reports
- n. Motion to move to Private Session (there may be times when the Board meets prior to public session, such as during virtual meetings)
- o. Rise and Report from Private Session
- p. Consideration of Written Notices of Motion
- q. Monthly oral reports from the Student Trustees, the Director, Board representatives to external organizations, and the Chair
- r. Student Trustees shall be allowed to make oral reports to the board or make oral reports requested by the board from time to time on matters relating to student voice, representation, etc.

Note: For the rules of order for regular Board meetings, see section 4.5, "Rules of Order for Board Meetings."

4.4 Special Board Meetings

- 1. The Chair of the Board shall Chair special Board meetings.
- 2. Special Board meetings may be called:
 - a. By the Chair and the Director for the purpose of dealing with emergent matters
 - b. By the Chair, or by the Director on the request of a majority of the members of the Board wherein the purpose of the meeting is stated
 - c. Any Trustee, including Student Trustees, can make a request for a special meeting to the Chair and Director
- 3. The Director shall provide at least 24 hours written notice of the special meeting.
- 4. The notice of and agenda for each special Board meeting shall include the purpose of the meeting and no other business shall be considered unless added in accordance with Policy 5.25.
- 5. The order of business at special Board meetings shall be as follows, as necessary:
 - a. Call to Order and Land Acknowledgement
 - b. National Anthem (observed as one sees appropriate)
 - c. Attendance and Quorum
 - d. Declarations of Conflicts of Interest
 - e. Resolution into Committee of the Whole (Private Session)
 - f. Public Meeting Reconvenes
 - g. Adoption of the Report of the Committee of the Whole (Private Session)
 - h. Matter Directly Related to the Purpose of the Meeting
 - i. Adjournment

Note: For the rules of order for special Board meetings, see section 4.5, "Rules of Order for Board Meetings."

4.5 Rules of Order for Board Meetings

- 1. The order of business shall be as shown in the agenda unless decided otherwise by the members.
- 2. At Board meetings, after being recognized by the Chair, a member desiring to speak shall address the Chair. The Chair shall call the member by their preferred name and the member may then, but not before, proceed to speak.
- 3. At Board meetings, motions shall be seconded.
- 4. All motions shall be decided by a vote unless the mover withdraws the motion.
- 5. The Secretary of the Board, in conjunction with the Chair, shall ensure that motions are written or transcribed and read verbatim as documented for all members before voting except the motions listed in Policy 5.15.
- 6. Every Trustee shall vote on all questions, unless disqualified from voting. Any member present when a vote is taken who does not vote and is not disqualified, shall be deemed to have voted in the negative.
- 7. No Trustee shall speak longer than five minutes on the same question, nor shall any member, except in explanation, speak more than once upon any question. The mover of the original motion, but not of any amendment, may have up to five minutes to close the debate. The Chair may reduce or increase the length of time for speakers or the number of times a member speaks to facilitate discussion on a specific matter.
- 8. When the motion under consideration contains several related proposals linked under one motion, a member may request to move a Division of the Question to allow for a separate vote to be taken on each individual motion.
- 9. If the proposals under one motion are unrelated, any member can demand a Division of the Question without a seconder, and the division will have to be made.
- 10. When a motion is put to a vote, the Chair shall first call for votes in favour of the motion, and then for votes opposed.
- 11. After a vote is taken, the Chair shall declare whether the motion was carried or defeated.
- 12. A record of the names of the members who voted for, against a motion and those who were absent from the vote shall be included in the minutes of the meeting.
- 13. A motion is lost on a tie vote, except when the ruling of the Chair is appealed, in which case a tie vote upholds the Chair (see Policy 5.34).
- 14. A motion before the Board may be amended at any time, subject to the following conditions:

- a. An amendment is directly relevant to the main motion or, in the case of an amendment to the amendment, the amendment to the amendment, if it proposes some change in the form or substance of the main motion or the amendment, and shall not be contrary to the main motion or amendment
- b. Only one amendment and one amendment to the amendment may be before the Board at any one time
- c. The vote on the motion, amendment and amendment to the amendment is taken in the reverse order of that in which they were moved, that is, the amendment to the amendment first, then the amendment, and then the main motion
- 15. When a question is under debate no motion shall be in order except to:
 - a. Adjourn
 - b. Call the Question
 - c. Table the Matter (indefinitely)
 - d. Table the Matter to (a specified time)
 - e. Refer the Matter
 - f. Meet in Committee of the Whole, in public or private
- 16. The following conditions apply to motions made under Policy 5.15:
 - a. The motion takes precedence over the main motion and amendments, if any, before the Board and before the debate on the main motion and amendment resumes
 - b. Only one such motion may be before the Board at any one time
 - c. A second motion to the same effect cannot be made until some other business has intervened
 - d. Motions to adjourn, to call the question or to table the matter indefinitely shall normally be decided without debate
- 17. A motion to call the question must be moved by a member who has not spoken to the matter.
- 18. At any stage of the debate, a Trustee may require the question under discussion to be read. All Trustees can request clarifications from the Chair. The Chair can choose to answer or refer to others.
- 19. A member may request a brief factual answer to a question pertinent to the subject under debate.

- 20. If the Chair deems necessary, the Chair shall refer a question to the Director.
- 21. No member while speaking shall be interrupted by another, except upon a point of order (see Policy 5.33).
- 22. No member shall speak to the motion after the question has been put by the Chair, nor shall any other motion be made until after the result is declared, and the decision of the Chair as to whether the question has been put is final.
- 23. No matters shall be discussed or considered unless identified in the agenda or added as an item of new business.
- 24. A member may have a matter added to the agenda of a regular Board meeting as an item of new business provided a majority of the members of the Board agree to consider it.
- 25. A member may have a matter added to the agenda of a special Board meeting as an item of new business provided all members of the Board are present and agree to do so.
- 26. No decision of the Board shall be reconsidered for a period of 12 months following the decision, or for the remainder of the term of office, whichever is the shorter time, unless decided otherwise by the Board or new credible information emerges that directly contradicts the Board's understanding and reliance for such decision.
- 27. A previous decision cannot be reconsidered if it has already been carried out and cannot be undone.
- 28. A decision of the Board made at a previous meeting shall not be reconsidered unless written notice of the motion to reconsider the decision is included in the agenda. A decision of the Board made earlier in an ongoing meeting may be reconsidered on a motion without notice
- 29. A motion or notice of motion to reconsider a previous decision shall include motion or notice of motion presenting an alternate proposal or a recommendation to rescind the previous decision. The motion presenting an alternate proposal or motion to rescind shall not be considered if the motion to reconsider is defeated.
- 30. Reconsideration of a previous decision of the Board cannot be added as new business unless it is reconsideration of a decision made earlier in a meeting.
- 31. A motion to reconsider a previous decision of the Board shall require a majority of the members of the Board to carry.
- 32. A decision to reconsider a previous decision shall not stay in effect beyond the adjournment of the meeting.
- 33. A member may bring to the attention of the Chair any departure from the rules of procedure by stating, "I rise to a point of order," without interrupting the speaker. The point of order must be stated clearly and concisely and the Chair must decide, without debate, whether or not the point of order is well taken.

- 34. The ruling of the Chair on a point of order is final, subject only to an appeal to the Board, without debate. A tie vote upholds the Chair.
- 35. A member who feels that their reputation or that of the organization has been impugned may raise a "question of privilege." The procedure is the same as for a point of order.
- 36. Meetings shall adjourn at 10 p.m. unless decided otherwise by the members to add to the length of the meeting in 15- or 30-minute increments.

4.6 Standing Committee

A standing committee meeting will be called when there is a need for a report to be presented to the Board of Trustees that does not have an opportunity to first go through a Trustee Special Committee because it is not part of the committee mandate. A standing committee may also be called when identified as necessary by a Trustee Special Committee.

- 1. The Standing Committee shall be composed of all members of the Board.
- 2. A member of the Standing Committee who absents themselves from three consecutive meetings of the committee without the approval of the committee shall cease to be a member of the committee. This information shall be reported to the Board.
- 3. The Vice-Chair of the Board shall Chair Standing Committee meetings.
- 4. Special meetings of the Standing Committee may be called by the Chair, or in the committee Chair's absence, by the Chair of the Board, or by the Director on the written request of a majority of the members of the committee and upon provision of 24 hours notice to the members.
- 5. The Standing Committee agenda shall be sent by the Director to the members at least 48 hours before the time at which the meeting is to take place. At the discretion of the Chair supplementary agenda material may be sent to the members no later than the day before the meeting.
- 6. The Standing Committee Chair, in consultation with the Director, shall be responsible for the content of the agenda.
- 7. The order of business at Standing Committee meetings shall be as follows:
 - a. Call to Order and Land Acknowledgement
 - b. Attendance and Quorum
 - c. Approval of Agenda
 - d. Declarations of Conflicts of Interest
 - e. Delegations
 - f. Reports from Trustee Special Committees
 - g. Staff Reports
 - h. Motion to Move to Private Session
 - i. Adjournment

- 8. The Standing Committee agenda shall include all the matters that are to be considered, as far as is known.
- 9. The Chair, in consultation with the Director, may add an item to the agenda of the Standing Committee no later than the day before the meeting.
- 10. The Standing Committee shall report and recommend to the Board on all matters considered by the committee.

For the rules of order for Standing Committee meetings, see section 4.9, "Rules of Order, Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole and Trustee Special Committees."

4.7 Committee of the Whole

- 1. The Board may meet in a public session of Committee of the Whole by majority vote, in order to permit more informal and detailed discussion of a certain matter.
- 2. The Board shall meet in a private session of the Committee of the Whole by a majority vote, in order to consider private matters.
- 3. The Committee of the Whole shall only consider matters which have been referred to it by the Chair of the Board and by the Board.
- 4. The Committee of the Whole shall report and recommend to the Board in public session on all matters referred to it.

For the rules of order for Committee of the Whole meetings, see section 4.9, "Rules of Order, Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole and Trustee Special Committees."

For additional information regarding private matters, see section 4.13, "Private Matters."

4.8 Trustee Special Committees

- 1. Trustee Special Committees may be established by the Board from time to time as deemed advisable and upon determination of their membership and mandate.
- 2. Trustee Special Committees include committees established for a specific task and shall be discharged upon completion of the task.
- 3. A member on whose motion a Trustee Special Committee is established shall be a member of that committee for the first term. Other committee members shall be appointed by the Board.
- 4. The Director shall call the first meeting of a Trustee Special Committee.
- 5. The term of office for Trustee Special Committees' members shall end on November 30 in each year, unless otherwise decided by the Board.
- 6. The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Board shall be ex officio members of Trustee Special Committees and when needed to count towards quorum shall have all the privileges of a member. When present at Trustee Special Committee meetings and not needed to count towards quorum, the ex officio member shall have speaking privileges only.
- 7. A member of the Trustee Special Committee who absents themselves from three consecutive meetings of the committee without approval of the committee shall cease to be a member of the committee. This information shall be reported to the Board.
- 8. Meetings held subsequent to the first meetings of Trustee Special Committees may be held on such dates and times as the committees consider expedient, provided that no such committee meets during a time period set aside by the Board for some other purpose without the approval of the Chair.
- 9. The Trustee Special Committee Chair, in consultation with the Director, shall be responsible for the content of the agenda.
- 10. Committee members are allowed to recommend agenda items as appropriate subject to the approval of the chair.
- 11. The agenda for each Trustee Special Committee meeting shall include all the business to be considered at the meeting and shall be sent by the Director to the members at least 48 hours before the time at which the meeting is to take place. At the discretion of the Chair, supplementary agenda material may be sent to the members no later than the day before the meeting.
- 12. Special meetings of a Trustee Special Committee may be called by the Chair, or in the committee Chair's absence by the Chair or Vice-Chair of the Board, or by the Director on the written request of a majority of the members of the committee and upon provision of 24 hours notice to the members.

- 13. The Chair, in consultation with the Director, may add an item to the agenda of the Trustee Special Committee no later than the day before the meeting.
- 14. Trustee Special Committees shall report and recommend to the Standing Committee or the Board on all matters considered by the committee.

For the rules of order for Trustee Special Committee meetings, see section 4.9, "Rules of Order, Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole and Trustee Special Committees."

4.9 Rules of Order, Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole and Trustee Special Committees

The rules of order for Board meetings (see section 4.5, "Rules of Order for Board Meetings"), with the necessary changes, shall apply to Standing Committee, Committee of the Whole (Private Session) and Trustee Special Committees meetings, with the following exceptions.

- 1. At a Trustee Special Committee, motions shall not require a seconder.
- 2. A member may have a matter added to the agenda of a committee as an item of new business provided it receives approval from the chair.
- 3. A motion to call the question shall not be considered in Standing Committee until all members who wish to speak have had an opportunity to do so (See also Policies 5.15, 5.16, 5.17).
- 4. Speaking time limits and restrictions (Policy 5.3) shall not apply to Trustee Special Committee meetings.
- 5. If a minority of a Trustee Special Committee disagrees with a recommendation to be made by a majority of the members, the minority may present an alternative position to the Board in the form of a minority report attached for information to the majority recommendation. Minority reports shall be presented to the committee in writing before the committee adjourns.
- 6. A motion to do the following shall not be in order in committee:
 - a. Table consideration of the motion indefinitely;
 - b. Reconsider a decision previously made by the Board, unless the motion to reconsider the decision was referred to the committee by the Board;
 - c. Temporarily suspend the rules.
- 7. Standing Committee and Trustee Special Committee meetings shall adjourn at a time established in the agenda or at the call of the members.
- 8. A Committee of the Whole shall not consider a motion to adjourn.
- 9. The Committee of the Whole may end the meeting at any time to report progress. A motion to review the Chair's report to the public and end the meeting is decided without debate.

4.10 Voting and Definitions

Definitions

Disqualified from voting means not permitted to vote for a legal reason, usually a declared possible conflict of interest.

Majority vote means a majority of the votes cast.

Majority of the members of the Board/committee means a majority of the total number of members regardless of how many votes are cast.

Member means an elected Trustee who is a member of the Board or committee.

E.A. indicates a reference to the Education Act.

Private Matters indicate matters of intimate, personal or financial information in respect of a member of the board or committee, an employee or prospective employee of the board or a pupil or his or her parent or guardian; decisions in respect of negotiations with employees of the board; or litigation affecting the board. R.S.O. 1990, c. E.2, s. 207 (2).

General Provisions

- 1. Unless stated otherwise, questions shall be decided by a majority vote.
- 2. Unless stated otherwise, quorum for a meeting is a majority of members.

4.11 Trustee Electronic Participation Policy and Procedure

Policy

Electronic and Virtual participation refers to participating in a meeting in a manner whereby the trustee can hear and be heard by using a two-way voice or video conferencing capability, in accordance with O. Reg. 463/97, Electronic Participating.

- 1. Electronic participation shall be available to Trustees for all meetings of the Board and committees of the Board.
- 2. The Chair shall conduct meetings in accordance with the appropriate rules of order while being mindful of the Trustee who is participating electronically.
- 3. Electronic participation shall be made available in a manner that allows the participating member to hear and be heard. [O. Reg. 463, s.3.(1)2]
- 4. Participants who require accommodation to be able to participate in meetings shall make a request to the Chair a week in advance of a board meeting, and the Board of Trustees shall seek to make reasonable accommodations such that financial or accessibility considerations are not an impediment to participation.
- 5. The Trustee who is participating electronically shall inform the Chair of every instance they enter and leave the meeting to ensure;
 - a. That the Chair knows at all times who is "in the room";
 - b. That the secretary can confirm in the record that a Trustee has complied with Conflict of Interest requirements by absenting him/herself when required;

 Note: A Trustee must not be present during discussion on a private matter for which the Trustee has declared a conflict of interest. When appropriate for the Trustee to return to the meeting, the Trustee will be notified by text message or email.
 - c. That the student trustees are only present when permitted in accordance with O. Reg. 7/07, Student Trustees, s.55(5).
- 6. The following persons must be physically present in the meeting room: [O. Reg. 463, s.5. (1)(2)]

Regular Board and Special Board Meetings	Board Committee Meetings			
 Chair of the Board, or designate At least one additional member The Director of Education, or designate 	 Chair of the committee, or designate The Director of Education, or designate 			

Further to O. Reg. 463, s. 5.1(1), the Chair of the Board or of a Committee of the Board or his or her designate may participate electronically in a Board or Committee Meeting if any of the following conditions exist:

- The distance from the Chair's or designates residence to the meeting location exceeds 200 kilometres
- The weather conditions do not allow the Chair or designate safe travel to the meeting location
- The Chair or designate cannot be present due to health-related issues
- 7. The Chair of the Board or Chair of a Board committee may refuse to provide a member with electronic means of participation in a meeting of the Board, a meeting of a Board committee, where to do so is necessary to ensure compliance with this section. [O. Reg. 463, s.5 (3)]
- 8. The Trustee who is participating electronically shall be responsible for correcting technical problems including disruptive noise and accidental disconnections that occur as a result of problems with the caller's environment or equipment.
- 9. A Trustee shall be physically present in the meeting room for at least three regular meetings of the board in each 12 month period beginning December 1. [Education Act, s. 229 (1)]

Procedure

- 10. If a Trustee anticipates that they will be participating by electronic means, the Trustee will inform the Office of the Director, through the Officer of Trustee Services, as soon as possible, and hopefully no later than 10 a.m. of the day of the meeting.
- 11. Where a meeting or part of a meeting is to be held in closed session, the Trustee participating electronically must not be in a location where an unauthorized individual is able to hear the Trustee or the meeting discussion.
- 12. Trustees participating electronically will inform the Chair when they enter the meeting electronically and when they leave, whether it is temporary or permanent absence, so the Chair knows who is "in the room" at all times.
- 13. The record of the meeting shall indicate that the Trustee was present and participated by electronic means.

4.12 Declaring a Conflict of Interest

The following procedure is provided to be utilized by Trustees in compliance with the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act. The declaration of conflicts to interest is to maintain the integrity and dignity of office. It is also aimed at fostering accountability, transparency, and inclusivity in the governance process.

According to the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act, HWDSB Trustees will maintain a registry of all declarations made under this Act. The registry must include the original written declaration provided by the board member and must be available to the public. This registry is accessible on the HWDSB website.

- 1. Upon being acknowledged by the chair, the member will state: "I wish to declare a conflict of interest regarding item (agenda number and topic) in the agenda because (reason, e.g. my child works for XYZ company, my spouse is a secondary school teacher)."
- 2. A declaration of conflict of interest made at a committee meeting, must be repeated when the committee's report on the matter is being considered by another committee or the Board.
- 3. In both cases above, the minutes will reflect that the trustee did not participate in the discussion or vote on the matter, if related to a public matter, and that the trustee was not present for the discussion or vote if related to a private matter.
- 4. A declaration of conflict of interest made at a private committee meeting, must be repeated when the report of the Committee of the Whole (Private Session) is being considered by the Board in public by saying, "I wish to declare a conflict of interest regarding a private (personal, legal, property, security, etc. matter contained in the private report of the Committee of the Whole."
- 5. When a conflict of interest has not been declared due to the absence of a member, the declaration must be made by the member concerned at the next meeting.

4.13 Private Matters

- 1. Trustees shall maintain confidentiality with regards to private matters considered by the Board and shall not discuss or share information related to private matters with any person other than fellow trustees and the Director, or designate.
- 2. At the discretion of the Director, a person who is not a Board member or Board employee may be invited to participate in a presentation to the members in private after signing a confidentiality agreement.
- 3. Trustees shall maintain private agendas and related materials in a secure location.
- 4. Only the Director can decide if or when a private decision can be made public. Sometimes there are administrative follow-up requirements to complete before a matter can be made public and other times a decision must remain private indefinitely. Therefore, trustees shall not disclose any decision made in private session before the Director has provided permission to do so.
- 5. The Director shall maintain records of all private matters and decisions and these shall be maintained in the Director's Office and accessible to a trustee upon request.
- 6. The Director shall maintain the private minutes in a secure location from which they may not be removed.
- 7. The Director shall not permit any reproduction of private minutes.

Matters considered during private sessions of committees, including the Standing Committee, special committees, and Committee of the Whole, are governed by sections 207(1) and (2) of the Education Act, as follows:

- 8. The meetings of a board and, subject to subsection (2), meetings of a committee of the board, including a Committee of the Whole, shall be open to the public, and no person shall be excluded from a meeting that is open to the public except for improper conduct.
- 9. A meeting of a committee of a board, including a Committee of the Whole, may be closed to the public when the subject matter under consideration involves,
- a. the security of the property of the board;
- b. the disclosure of intimate, personal or financial information in respect of a member of the board or committee, an employee or prospective employee of the board or a pupil or his or her parent or guardian;
- c. the acquisition or disposal of a school site;
- d. decisions in respect of negotiations with employees of the board; or
- e. litigation affecting the board.
- 10. A student trustee is not entitled to be present at a meeting that is closed to the public under clause 207 (2) (b). E.A. 55(5)

4.14 Reporting Private Matters in Public

The purpose of this governance procedure is to provide a process for the Board to present as much information as possible to the public on private matters that are being recommended for Board approval both at the time the Board is making the decision and subsequent to the Board meeting.

- 1. During a public meeting, the Board may resolve into Committee of the Whole (CW) (Private) to consider private matters by a majority decision of the Board of Trustees.
- 2. When the private CW meeting is concluded, the meeting reviews the Chair's report to the public and ends the meeting thereby making recommendations on private matters.
- 3. The Board is required to vote on approving the private recommendations in public. [For a definition of what constitutes "Private Matters" see Section 207 (2)]. At this point, some of the private decisions or parts of decisions can immediately be made public and others cannot, as determined by the Director.
 - a. Matters that will never be made public
 - The decisions that cannot be made public immediately, are voted on without disclosing the
 particulars of the matter. These matters include items that were simply received or
 discussed. The content of private agendas and discussions should remain private.
 - ii. There would be no purpose to disclosing the nature of the matter at the time the private report of the Committee of the Whole is presented.
 - iii. The nature of the matter will be shown in the public minutes of the meeting at a later time, but the particulars (specific topic and recommendation) will not.
 - b. Matters that might be made public at a later time
 - i. Sometimes private decisions can be made public at a time subsequent to the meeting after required administrative steps have been concluded. In this instance, when appropriate, the Director will inform the trustees and publish the private decision.
 - ii. There would be no purpose to disclosing the nature of the matter at the time the private report of the Committee of the Whole is presented.
 - iii. The nature of the matter will be shown in the public minutes including the recommendation or part of the recommendation of the Committee of the Whole that has been made public.
 - c. Matters that can be made immediately public

- i. At the conclusion of each private meeting of the Committee of the Whole, the Director, in consultation with the Chair and Vice-chair of the Board, will determine which recommendations or parts of recommendations of the private CW will immediately be made public.
- ii. These recommendations or parts of recommendations will be read aloud by the chair of the CW upon presentation of the committee's report in public.
- iii. The nature of the matter will be shown in the public minutes including the recommendation or part of the recommendation of the Committee of the Whole that has been made public.

Excerpt from the Education Act (Last amendment: 2012, c. 11, s. 21.)

- 4. Closing of certain committee meetings: (207 (2)) A meeting of a committee of a board, including a committee of the whole board, may be closed to the public when the subject-matter under consideration involves:
 - a. the security of the property of the board;
 - the disclosure of intimate, personal or financial information in respect of a member of the board or committee, an employee or prospective employee of the board or a pupil or his or her parent or guardian;
 - c. the acquisition or disposal of a school site;
 - d. decisions in respect of negotiations with employees of the board; or
 - e. litigation affecting the board. R.S.O. 1990, c. E.2, s. 207 (2).

4.15 Submitting a Written Notice of Motion

Motions

A motion is exclusively an action that occurs during a meeting, does not happen until moved by a trustee when a meeting is underway. A trustee who has submitted a written notice of motion for inclusion in an agenda is providing notice to other Trustees, staff and the community that the matter may be considered, and may withdraw or make editorial changes to it at the time it is moved.

- 1. Written notice of motion should suggest an action as concisely as possible, with no extraneous content, and leave no doubt as to what is being proposed.
- 2. All notices of motion should be reviewed by the Director, Officer of Trustee Services and the Chair of the Board (or designate) to ensure that the submission is in accordance with the procedure outlined and does not contravene the *Education Act* and any other legislation.
- 3. Feedback may be provided to the member submitting the notice of motion related to providing clarification on statements made and actions requested.

Note: When considering a motion at a meeting of the Board the matter will frequently be referred to the Standing Committee or a special committee for consideration. The Board has taken "ownership" of the matter and it is published in the agenda of the committee as a matter referred by the Board, it is no longer a motion or a written notice of motion. When the Standing Committee or special committee considers a matter, the committee has taken "ownership" of it and may approve, defeat or amend it and present it as a recommendation of the committee in the committee's report.

Submitting a notice of motion

- 4. The notice of motion must indicate the rationale of the motion and must be accurate and complete since it will determine what amendments are in order when the motion is considered.
- 5. The notice of motion will become invalid if the motion is amended beyond the scope of the notice.
- 6. Trustees may verbally serve notice of a motion that they intend to present at a future meeting during a Board or Committee of the Whole meeting.
- 7. The wording of the motion and appropriate signatures must be provided to the Director for scheduling no later than noon on the Friday prior to the board or Committee of the Whole meeting.

Moving motions

- 8. A motion will be moved and seconded and then debate on the motion can occur. After debate has concluded the Chair will state the motion prior to the vote on the motion.
- 9. A privilege motion, in order of precedence, shall be considered over all other business and may be moved without notice.

10. \	When a d	uestion is	s under	debate,	the onl	y motions	in order	shall be:
-------	----------	------------	---------	---------	---------	-----------	----------	-----------

- a. adjourn or take a recess
- b. raise a question under point of order, privilege or question
- c. lay on the table
- d. call for the previous question
- e. postpone to a certain time
- f. Refer
- g. amend
- h. postpone indefinitely
- i. main motion.
- 11. Each motion shall have precedence in the order listed; and a, b, c and d shall be decided without debate except as provided under point of order, privilege or question by majority vote other than motion d which shall require a two-thirds vote of those present to adopt.
- 12. A motion to "Call the Question" (or "move the previous question") may be moved at any time when a motion, with or without amendment or amendments, is before the Board, provided that no Trustee while speaking is interrupted for this purpose.
 - a. A motion to call the question is undebatable and shall be put in the following words, "I move that we call the question".
 - b. If carried by two-thirds of those present, the Chair shall then call for the vote on the pending motion and amendments (if more than one is before the Board at the time the question is called), in the appropriate order as required by these rules, and these items shall be voted upon and disposed of without further debate, and no other motion or amendment shall be entertained until the motion and amendment(s) are disposed of.
 - c. If the vote on the amendment is negative, further amendments may then be moved, and the motion and all amendments shall continue to be debated in the same manner.

- 13. A motion to lay on the table, done only in the case of an emergency, is not debatable; but a motion to lay on the table with any other condition involved is subject to debate and amendment with a majority vote.

 Generally, a motion to defer or postpone discussion to a future date will be put forward.
- 14. A question having been postponed indefinitely shall not be taken up again at the same meeting.
- 15. After a motion is made and seconded, a motion to amend may be made, and a motion to amend the amendment; but no further motion to amend shall be made until those have been decided.
- 16. An amendment modifying the subject of a motion shall be in order, but an amendment relating to a different subject or completely changing the intent of a motion shall not be considered.
- 17. All amendments shall be put in the reverse order to which they are moved.
- 18. Every amendment submitted shall be decided upon or withdrawn before the main question is put to a vote; and if the vote on an amendment is decided in the affirmative the main question as amended shall be put to a vote.
- 19. A motion to adjourn shall be in order except when a Trustee is speaking, or a vote is being taken, or when the previous question has been called. A motion to adjourn only shall not be open to amendment or debate; but a motion to adjourn to a particular time may be amended or debated.
- 20. No second motion to adjourn shall be made until some business has been transacted after the first motion to adjourn has failed. 24.2.13. Requests by individual Trustees for information, which will require a significant time commitment by Administration, must be formulated into a motion and receive approval prior to the task being undertaken. A request approved by "will of the Board" is acceptable when the request does not require significant time commitment by staff as determined in consultation with the Director.
- 21. **Student Trustees and Shakowennakara:tats** are able to suggest a motion on matters before the Board or one of its committees, however, this must be done with sponsorship of an elected Ward Trustee. Submitted notices of motion must include the name of the elected Ward Trustee who is sponsoring the motion. The email submission may be sent by the Student Trustee or Ward Trustee (but both shall be copied on the email submission).
- 22. To submit a matter for consideration, a written **notice of motion** must be received by the Director before 4 p.m. on the same day of the week one week prior to the meeting. For example notices of motion for a Monday meeting must be received by 4 p.m. on the previous Monday. The Chair of the Board, in consultation with the Vice Chair will have the discretion on whether to accept late submissions and direct staff to add to the appropriate agenda, but not later than 48 hours prior to the meeting start time.
- 23. After a motion has been moved and seconded and before the question has been put by the Chair, any Trustee may informally suggest one or more modifications (a friendly amendment) to the motion about

which there is unlikely to be a difference of opinion. The mover of the motion may accept or reject the suggested modification.

Motions Considered at Board and Committee of the Whole Meetings

- 24. Motions shall be related to an agenda item.
- 25. Every motion shall be seconded and shall be disposed of only by a vote of the Board unless the mover and seconder, by permission of the Chair, withdraw the motion, as long as the motion has not been 'put' or stated by the Chair.
- 26. Any Trustee, including Student trustees, may request the motion under discussion be read for information at any time in the course of the debate, provided that no such request is made so as to interrupt a Trustee speaking to the question.
- 27. The mover and seconder shall be recorded in the official minutes of all Board and Standing Board meetings.
- 28. After a motion is moved and seconded, and has been stated by the Chair, it shall be deemed to be in possession of the Board.
- 29. A Trustee may introduce a motion and provide clarification on the wording before the motion is seconded. No other Trustee is permitted to speak to a motion before it is seconded.

Motion to Suspend the Rules

30. Any Trustee, including Student trustees, may make a motion to suspend the rules in order to do something, which cannot ordinarily be done without violating these rules. Such a motion is not debatable and requires a two-thirds vote of Trustees present at the meeting to pass. It may not be used in such a manner that would be seen as taking away a Trustee's rights.

Voting

- 31. No Trustee shall have more than one vote, as Chair or otherwise, either at Board meetings, or on any committee.
- 32. Any Trustee may abstain from voting. An abstention maintains a quorum. The number of yea and nay votes will determine the approval or defeat of a motion under consideration. If the vote required is a majority or 2/3 of the Trustees present, an abstention will have the same effect as a no vote. An abstention is not a vote and cannot be counted as a vote, but can be noted in the minutes of the meeting.
- 33. Where there is an equality of votes, the question is defeated. See Electronic Voting Guidelines for additional information.
- 34. After the Chair has put a question to vote, there shall be no further debate. The decision of the Chair as to whether the question has been finally put shall be conclusive. This includes once the vote has occurred we

will move onto the next item on the agenda. Trustees are not permitted to continue to debate the motion by making a comment on the outcome of the vote that has just occurred as this could be seen as the final word.

- 35. All votes at meetings shall be taken by a show of hands and shall be recorded.
- 36. Voting by proxy will not be allowed in any meeting under the jurisdiction of the Board in that proxy voting is incompatible with the essential characteristics of the Board in which membership is individual, personal and non-transferable.
- 37. **Student Trustees** are not entitled to exercise a binding vote on matters before the board or its committees [Act (Section 55 (3)]. However, their vote will be recorded in the Board minutes and they may request that a matter before the Board, or any of its committees, be put to a vote.

4.16 Delegations

Note: The following governance procedure applies to Board, Standing Committee and Trustee Special Committees only. Different delegation processes and opportunities for public input and consultation may be established for other specific purposes.

The following governance procedure establishes a process for hearing public input and is an indicator of the Board's commitment to advocacy for students, parents and communities. The procedure provides for flexibility in managing the delegation process.

Subject Matter

- 1. Trustees will hear delegations on matters that are shown on the agenda for either Standing Committee or Board meetings.
- 2. Special committees will hear delegations on matters related to their mandates.
- 3. Employees of the Board may make a delegation request on topics other than those concerning employment or professional interests for which other channels exist.

Note: see also section 4.16, provisions 12-16 ("Limitations").

Confidential Matters

4. Requests by delegations to appear before a committee on matters which are deemed to be of a confidential nature, (Section 207 (1) and (2) of the Education Act), will be considered in private session.

Requests to Make an Oral Delegation

- 5. Requests by delegations and individuals to speak to a Committee must be submitted in writing by e-mail to the Officer, Trustee Services by 12:00 pm on the Friday before the meeting and speakers must address a topic in the agenda.
- 6. If a request to make an oral delegation cannot be accommodated, the requestor will be invited to submit a written submission that will be distributed to the members at the meeting, distributed to all trustees in the weekly information package and posted on the Board's web-site.
- 7. Requests by delegations and individuals to speak on a topic other than in (a) above, will be invited to speak to a special committee of the Board.
- 8. Requests must include the following information:
 - a. the topic that will be addressed
 - b. the name of the speaker or speakers if the time provided is to be shared by two members of an organization

- c. address of the speaker
- d. contact information for the speaker (preferably e-mail)
- e. the name of the organization, if the speaker is representing an organization such as a school council or community group
- 9. Written submissions alone, on any topic and at any time, may be submitted to the Officer of Trustee Services and will be distributed to all trustees and posted on the Board's website.

Time Allotted

10. Requestors may request either five or ten minutes, and will be accommodated at the discretion of the chair. At any time the chair may decide that a shorter time be allotted to facilitate the business of the meeting.

Questions of Clarification

11. Following presentations, members of the committee and other trustees may ask brief questions for clarification only, for a period of time which will be at the discretion of the Chair.

Limitations

- 12. The committees will hear up to three delegations at each meeting.
- 13. Delegation requests will be approved or denied at the discretion of the chair and vice chair, based on the anticipated time needed for completion of the agenda, variety and diversity of types of input (parent group, individual citizen, community organization), diversity variety of viewpoints, number of times the requestor has previously had the opportunity to address the trustees. If denied, requestors will be invited to submit a written submission which will be distributed at the appropriate meeting.
- 14. Delegates may speak once only on any particular matter.
- 15. For issues such as school closings or school naming and renaming (in whole or in part), where the Board will be instituting an extensive consultation process outside of the Board's regular business process, delegations will not be heard at committee meetings.
- 16. If more delegation requests are received than can be accommodated, written submissions will be encouraged and these will be distributed to all Board members.

4.17 Requests for Information

- 1. Requests by individual Trustees for information, which the Administration deems will require a significant amount of time or commitment, must be formulated into a motion and receive Board approval prior to the task being undertaken.
- 2. A request approved by "will of the Board" is acceptable when the request does not require significant time commitment by staff as determined in consultation with the Director of Education.

4.18 Changes to Policies and Procedures

- 1. The Board may temporarily suspend a provision of these policies and procedures by a two-thirds majority of the members of the Board, except where the provision is grounded in an obligation imposed by law.
- 2. A temporary suspension of the policies and procedures shall expire at the end of the meeting in which the policies and procedures are suspended, unless the Board determines otherwise.
- 3. No temporary suspension of the policies and procedures shall extend beyond the next organizational meeting of the Board.
- 4. The following conditions apply to revisions to the governance policies and procedures:
 - a. Written notice of the proposed revision shall be given at the Board meeting previous to the meeting at which the revision is to be considered; and
 - b. A majority of the members of the Board must vote in favour of the revision